BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY OF CLUJ-NAPOCA FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE



METHODS FOR APPROXIMATING MULTIVARIATE FUNCTIONS

Ph. D. Thesis Summary

Scientific supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Ph. D. Habil. Teodora CĂTINAŞ

Ph. D. student: Andra Teodora MALINA

CLUJ-NAPOCA, 2025

Contents

	Introduction						
1	Preliminaries						
	1.1	Main notions and notations					
	1.2 Radial basis functions			11			
	1.3	Univariate Shepard operators					
		1.3.1	Univariate Shepard-Lagrange operators	13			
		1.3.2	Univariate Shepard-Taylor operators	14			
		1.3.3	Univariate Shepard-Hermite operators	14			
		1.3.4	Univariate Shepard-Birkhoff operators	14			
		1.3.5	Univariate Shepard-Abel-Goncharov operators	15			
		1.3.6	Univariate Shepard-Bernoulli operators	15			
		1.3.7	Modified univariate Shepard operators	16			
	1.4	Bivari	ate Shepard operators	16			
		1.4.1	Bivariate Shepard-Lagrange operators	17			
		1.4.2	Bivariate Shepard-Taylor operators	18			
		1.4.3	Bivariate Shepard-Hermite operators	18			
		1.4.4	Bivariate Shepard-Birkhoff operators	19			
		1.4.5	Bivariate Shepard operator of complete Hermite-Birkhoff type	20			
		1.4.6	Bivariate Shepard-Lidstone operators	21			
		1.4.7	Bivariate Shepard-Bernoulli operators	23			
	1.5	Spher	ical data interpolation using the Shepard operator	24			
		1.5.1	Spherical radial basis functions	25			
		1.5.2	Shepard operator combined with spherical basis functions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	27			
		1.5.3	Spherical Shepard operator of Hermite-Birkhoff type	29			
2	Uni	Univariate Shepard operators obtained using least-squares polynomials					
	2.1	2.1 Construction and properties of univariate least-squares fitting polynomials					
	2.2	2.2 Univariate Shepard operators combined with least squares-fitting polynomials					
3	Bivariate Shepard operators obtained using radial basis functions						
	3.1	The c	ombined Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type	33			

	3.2	2 The combined Shepard operator of inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric t				
	3.3	3 Application in image reconstruction				
		3.3.1	Reconstruction of damaged black-and-white images	37		
		3.3.2	Reconstruction of damaged color images	38		
4	Spherical interpolation using some new Shepard operators					
	4.1	4.1 Spherical Shepard operators combined with radial basis functions				
		4.1.1	Combined spherical Shepard operators of least squares thin-plate spline			
			and inverse multiquadric type	40		
	4.2	4.2 Spherical Shepard-Bernoulli operators				
		4.2.1	Delaunay triangulation of a sphere	42		
		4.2.2	Combined spherical Shepard-Bernoulli method	43		
	4.3	Applic	ation in monthly mean temperature predictions	44		
4.4 Application to topographic data problem			ation to topographic data problem	45		
	Conclusions					
Bibliography						

List of publications and attended conferences

The original results were published in the following papers:

- T. Cătinaş, A. Malina, Spherical Shepard-Bernoulli operator, J. Appl. Math. Comput. (2024), DOI: 10.1007/s12190-024-02285-z, WoS-SCIE, IF (June 2024): 2.4 (Q1 quartile).
- A. Malina, Univariate Shepard operators combined with least squares fitting polynomials, Filomat 38:15 (2024), pp. 5507–5516, DOI: 10.2298/FIL2415507M, WoS-SCIE, IF (June 2024): 0.8 (Q2 quartile).
- T. Cătinaş, A. Malina, Spherical interpolation of scattered data using least squares thinplate spline and inverse multiquadric functions, Numer. Algor. 97 (2024), pp. 1397–1414, DOI: 10.1007/s11075-024-01755-6, WoS-SCIE, IF (June 2024): 1.7 (Q2 quartile).
- A. Malina, An application of the Shepard operator in image reconstruction, In: 2024 26th International Symposium on Symbolic and Numeric Algorithms for Scientific Computing (SYNASC), to appear.
- A. Malina, Iterative Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type, Dolomites Res. Notes Approx. 16 (2023), pp. 54—59, DOI: 10.14658/PUPJ-DRNA-2023-3-8, WoS-ESCI, IF (June 2024): 0.6.
- T. Cătinaş, A. Malina, The combined Shepard operator of inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric type, Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 67 (2022), pp. 579—589, DOI: 10.24193/subbmath.2022.3.09, WoS-ESCI, IF (June 2024): 0.3.
- 7. T. Cătinaş, A. Malina, Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type, Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 66 (2021), pp. 257-265, DOI: 10.24193/subbmath.2021.2.
 02, WoS-ESCI, IF (June 2024): 0.3.

The original results were presented at the following conferences:

1. Numerical Analysis, Numerical Modeling, Approximation Theory (NA-NM-AT), Zilele Academice Clujene, Cluj-Napoca (04-07.11.2024), "Spherical interpolation of scattered data by means of combined Shepard operators".

- 26th International Symposium on Symbolic and Numeric Algorithms for Scientific Computing (SYNASC), Timişoara (16-19.09.2024), "An application of the Shepard operator in image reconstruction".
- 3. Le 16ème Colloque Franco-Roumain, Bucharest (26-30.08.2024), "Spherical interpolation of scattered data using least squares thin-plate spline and inverse multiquadric functions".
- Sesiunea de Comunicări Științifice ale Studenților Matematică, Facultatea de Matematică și Informatică, UBB Cluj-Napoca (25.05.2024), "Spherical interpolation of scattered data using least squares thin-plate spline and inverse multiquadric functions".
- Numerical Analysis, Numerical Modeling, Approximation Theory (NA-NM-AT), Zilele Academice Clujene, Cluj-Napoca (06-09.11.2023), "Combined Shepard operators applied in image reconstruction".
- 9th International Conference on Mathematics and Informatics (MathInfo), Târgu Mureş (07-08.09.2023), "An application of the Shepard operator in image reconstruction".
- 14th Joint Conference on Mathematics and Computer Science (MaCS), Cluj-Napoca (24-27.11.2022), "New Shepard operators in the univariate case".
- 8. Numerical Analysis, Numerical Modeling, Approximation Theory (NA-NM-AT), Zilele Academice Clujene, Cluj-Napoca (26-28.10.2022), "New Shepard operators in the univariate case".
- International Conference on Approximation Theory and its Applications (ICATA), Sibiu (12-14.09.2022), "Univariate Shepard operators combined with least squares fitting polynomials".
- 10. Functional Analysis, Approximation Theory and Numerical Analysis (FAATNA), Matera, Italy (05-08.07.2022), "Iterative Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type".
- Sesiunea de Comunicări Științifice ale Studenților Matematică, Facultatea de Matematică și Informatică, UBB Cluj-Napoca (21.05.2022), "Univariate Shepard operators combined with least squares fitting polynomials".
- 12. International Student Conference StudMath-IT, Arad (18-19.11.2021), "Iterative Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type".
- 13. Zilele Academice Clujene, 70 de ani de la înființarea Institutului de Calcul "Tiberiu Popoviciu", Cluj-Napoca (28.10.2021), "Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type".

Other conferences attended:

• Machine Learning Prague 2024, Czech Republic (22-24.04.2024).

Introduction

This thesis aims to introduce and study new interpolation operators for three common cases: univariate, bivariate and spherical. Interpolation is an important branch of Approximation Theory, widely used in practical applications where reconstructing a surface from some known data is necessary. This data is usually referred to as scattered due to its lack of a regular structure.

This kind of problem can be formulated as follows. Given some known data consisting of data sites $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i \in \mathbb{R}^n, i = 1, ..., K\}$ and data values $f_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i) \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, ..., K$, find $s : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that it either interpolates the given data, i.e., $s(\mathbf{x}_i) = f(\mathbf{x}_i)$, or it approximates it, i.e., $s(\mathbf{x}_i) \approx f(\mathbf{x}_i)$.

The applications of this type of data problem come from many fields, such as mathematics, computer science, biology, geology or engineering, a reason why scattered data approximation became a fast-growing and important research subject. Some concrete examples of these applications mentioned by M. D. Buhmann [7], G. E. Fasshauer [44] and H. Wendland [93] include surface reconstruction (archaeology artifacts, sculptures, machine parts), image restoration and inpainting, terrain modeling, measurements for physical phenomena (pressure, ground or sea level temperature, rainfall, gravitational forces), modeling closed surfaces in CAGD, solutions to partial differential equations and geophysical problems (topography, magnetic field intensity, gravitational potential), kernel approximation and support vector machines in neural networks or data mining.

One of the main tools used in scattered data interpolation is the operator introduced by D. Shepard in 1968, in [82], which is considered one of the best-suited methods for approximating large datasets. In its original form, it was obtained as a combination of the available data values and global weights constructed using the distance between the data sites, involving a positive control parameter. Despite its advantages, such as small storage requirements and easy generalization to additional independent variables, it suffers from poor reproduction quality, low accuracy and a high computational cost. Due to these drawbacks, many authors proposed several alternatives to improve its efficiency and to obtain an increased accuracy. Some pioneers with fundamental results in this study include R. Franke and G. Nielson (see, e.g., [46], [47]), R. J. Renka and A. K. Cline (see, e.g., [72], [74], [76], [77]), R. Farwig (see, e.g., [43]), R. E. Barnhill, R. P. Dube and F. F. Little (see, e.g., [4]). The Approximation School in Cluj achieved significant advancements in the study of this method, in both univariate and bivariate cases. Some of the authors that worked extensively in this field are Gh. Coman, T. Cătinaş and R.

Trîmbiţaş (see, e.g., [10]–[13], [24]–[31], [90]). Another School with substantial contributions is the Italian one. In the univariate and bivariate cases, we mention R. Caira, F. Dell'Accio and F. Di Tomasso (see, e.g. [8], [9], [37]–[39]), while for the spherical case, many improvements were developed by G. Allasia, R. Cavoretto and A. De Rossi (see, e.g., [2], [18]–[21], [35], [36]).

The thesis is organized into four chapters, each containing several sections and subsections.

Chapter 1 primarily focuses on an overview of existing results and notions concerning the Shepard method. Section 1.1 introduces key notations and fundamental results essential throughout this thesis. Section 1.2 briefly discusses radial basis functions, another important tool in approximating scattered data, which will be used to improve the Shepard operator. Section 1.3 presents fundamental results for refined variants of the Shepard operator in the univariate case obtained from its combination with various interpolation polynomials, such as Lagrange [29], Taylor [29], Hermite [29], Birkhoff [29, 31], Abel-Goncharov [12] and Bernoulli [8]. Section 1.4 revisits important contributions in the theory of the bivariate Shepard method. We detail here the local variant of this method which ensures that data points farther away from the approximation point have less influence, obtaining in this manner an improved accuracy compared to the initial method, which is global. This local approach was initially proposed by R. Franke and G. Nielson in [47] and further developed by R. Franke in [46] and R. J. Renka in [76]. As in the previous case, to increase the degree of exactness and obtain smaller approximation errors, several polynomial combinations were proposed, such as Lagrange [30], Taylor [28], Hermite [24], Birkhoff [25], complete Hermite-Birkhoff [38], Lidstone [9], [13] and Bernoulli [11], [37]. Finally, we discuss the spherical Shepard operator in Section 1.5. We first recall some results related to radial basis functions on the sphere (see, e.g. [5], [54], [58], [84]), with the purpose of presenting spherical Shepard-like methods combined with radial basis functions (see, e.g., [18]–[21], [35], [36]). The case involving available data about the function's partial derivatives is addressed in [2], where the Shepard operator of Hermite-Birkhoff-type is studied.

The aim of Chapter 2 is to introduce a new type of Shepard operator in the univariate case, obtained using polynomials constructed based on the weighted least squares method. In Section 2.1, we detail how we constructed these polynomials and study afterward some of their properties. In Theorem 2.1.1, we prove that these polynomials interpolate the function on the set of given data sites. Theorem 2.1.2 shows that the degree of exactness of these operators coincides with the degree of the polynomial used. In the last result of this section, Theorem 2.1.3, we prove the operators' linearity. Section 2.2 focuses on the combination between the Shepard operator and the polynomials previously introduced. In Theorems 2.2.2, 2.2.3 and 2.2.4, respectively, we show that the new Shepard operator inherits the properties regarding the interpolation on the set of given nodes, the degree of exactness and linearity, respectively. Based on Peano's Theorem, we study the remainder of the interpolation formula in Theorem 2.2.5. We end this chapter with some numerical examples performed on two sets of nodes (equidistant and Chebyshev type) and four test functions, comparing our results with the ones obtained using other Shepard operators of different types, such as Lagrange, Taylor and Bernoulli. All the results presented in this chapter are original and they were published in the paper A. Malina

[62].

The goal of Chapter 3 is to present new combined Shepard operators in the two-dimensional case, using three radial basis functions: thin-plate spline, inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric. The methods proposed aim to improve the original one, due to the proven efficacy of radial basis functions in both practical and theoretical contexts. Besides the classical (global) and the modified (local) forms of the operator, we also use an iterative method that is comparable to the latter one, as proposed by A. V. Masjukov and V. V. Masjukov in [63]. To enhance the accuracy of the methods, we follow some ideas of J. R. McMahon (see, e.g., [64], [65]) and compute some sets of representative knot points for the initial set of nodes. The use of these sets reduces the computational cost and also increases the accuracy of the methods, as shown by several numerical examples on three test functions. The steps are outlined in Algorithm 1. The results obtained using the least squares thin-plate spline, presented in Section 3.1, were structured and published in two articles: T. Cătinaș and A. Malina [14] and A. Malina [61], while the ones achieved in the cases of inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric were published in the paper T. Cătinaş and A. Malina [17]. Finally, Section 3.3 deals with a practical application of the Shepard operators previously mentioned in image processing, namely the reconstruction of both black-and-white (Subsection 3.3.1) and color (Subsection 3.3.2) images. In our approach, we detail two methods, a global (Algorithm 2) and a local one (Algorithm 3), performing several experiments on three images with different resolutions. The need for image reconstruction may arise in cases such as inpainting or noise reduction. Since we focus on restoration and not on detecting the damage, we consider that the area needed to be reconstructed is known. The results presented in this section are included in the paper A. Malina [60].

Chapter 4 is dedicated to spherical interpolation of scattered data using some new combined Shepard operators. As emphasized in [19] and [84], these types of data fitting problems, where the underlying domain is the sphere, arise in many areas, as, in general, the sphere is taken as a model of the Earth. Section 4.1 presents new local Shepard operators combined with the least squares-thin plate spline and the inverse multiquadric functions. Combined polynomial and radial basis function approximations have often been studied in the context of radial basis functions constructed from conditionally positive definite kernels, in which case a polynomial part is needed to make the theory work. Here, we restrict our attention to the case of (conditionally) strictly positive definite kernels, considering also the inclusion of a polynomial component, motivated by the fact that approximations of this kind offer real advantages. In Theorem 4.1.3 we study the interpolation error, while in Theorem 4.1.4, we prove that our operators are of class C^1 . Finally, in Theorem 4.1.5, we provide an error bound based on the modulus of continuity. The new results obtained in this section are contained in the paper T. Cătinaș and A. Malina [15]. In Section 4.2, we derive a second Shepard-type method for the spherical case using the Bernoulli operator, suitable when information about the function's derivatives is known. After performing the Delaunay triangulation of the sphere, we consider two approaches in applying this kind of operator. The first approach, based on the global Shepard method, involves constructing the Bernoulli operator for each node \mathbf{x}_i , after selecting as a representative triangle the one that has \mathbf{x}_i as a vertex and for which the Bernoulli approximation error is minimum. We study the interpolation error in this case in Theorem 4.2.6. The second approach, proposed in [97] and [98], involves constructing a Bernoulli operator on each triangle from the sphere's triangulation. We prove in Theorem 4.2.8 that this type of operator interpolates the function at the nodes. The original results of this section have been published in the paper T. Cătinaş and A. Malina [16]. Both sections end with numerical examples performed on test functions, using different sets of data (random points, spiral points, Halton nodes), demonstrating the efficiency of the methods proposed. Moreover, two physical phenomena are investigated in the final part of this chapter. Sections 4.3 and 4.4 present applications of the new spherical Shepard operators introduced in temperature predictions on the Earth's surface and topographic data approximation. The results show that these interpolants offer significant advantages in solving numerous problems that model real-life phenomena.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Teodora Cătinaș for her constant support and guidance throughout these years. Her expertise, patience and thoughtful advice were fundamental to the completion of this thesis. I would like to thank her for all the care and encouragement she provided me, without which I would not have been able to achieve these results.

I would also like to thank my colleagues from "Tiberiu Popoviciu Institute of Numerical Analysis, Romanian Academy", especially CSI Emil Cătinaș, for creating an environment where I was able to learn new things in this domain. The understanding, support and fruitful discussions have contributed significantly to my growth.

I am grateful to the guidance committee and all the professors I had for the assistance and expertise they provided me.

My heartfelt thanks go to my family and closest friends, who always believed in me and supported me unconditionally throughout this journey, with sincere love and thoughts.

Keywords: Shepard operator, interpolation of scattered data, weighted least squares approximation, thin-plate spline, inverse quadratic, inverse multiquadric, degree of exactness, remainder term, error estimations, iterative multiscale method, univariate interpolation, bivariate approximation, spherical interpolation, knot points, spiral points, Halton nodes, Bernoulli operator, spherical harmonics, image reconstruction.

MSC: 41A05, 41A25, 41A80, 65D05, 65D12, 65D15, 33C55.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

The first chapter is dedicated to existing results and notions from Numerical Analysis, mostly approximation and interpolation theory. After listing some notations and fundamental concepts that will be used throughout this thesis in Section 1.1 and providing a brief introduction to the theory of radial basis functions in Section 1.2, we turn our attention to the main focus of this thesis: the study of the Shepard operator, first introduced in [82]. The pioneers in the study of this method include Franke and Nielson [46], [47], Renka and Cline [72], [74], [76], [77], Farwig [43], Barnhill, Dube and Little [4]. Section 1.3 revisits fundamental results in the univariate case, while Section 1.4 presents the work of several authors in the bivariate case. Notable references for these two cases include studies by Caira, Dell'Accio and Di Tommaso [8], [9], [37], [38], [39], Coman, Cătinaş and Trîmbiţaş [10]–[13], [24]–[31], [90]. Finally, Section 1.5 presents the Shepard operator constructed on the unit sphere. Important results in this area were obtained by Allasia, Cavoretto and De Rossi [2], [18], [19], [20], [21], [35], [36].

1.1 Main notions and notations

Theorem 1.1.1. [79] (Peano's Theorem in \mathbb{R})

Let $L: H^n[a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a linear functional such that it commutes with the definite integral operator. If ker $L = \mathbb{P}_{n-1}$, then

$$L[f] = \int_a^b \phi_n(t) f^{(n)}(t) \ dt,$$

with

$$\phi_n(t) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} L^x \left[(x-t)_+^{n-1} \right],$$

 $L^{x}[f]$ denoting the fact that L is applied to f in regard to the variable x.

Theorem 1.1.2. [79] (Peano's Theorem in \mathbb{R}^2)

Consider $X = [a, b] \times [c, d]$ and let $L : B_{\alpha, \beta}(a, c) \to \mathbb{R}$ be a linear functional. If ker $L = \mathbb{P}^2_{n-1}$,

then

$$\begin{split} L[f] = & \sum_{j < \beta} \int_{a}^{b} \phi_{n-j,j}(s) \frac{\partial^{n} f}{\partial x^{n-j} \partial y^{j}}(s,c) \ ds \\ &+ \sum_{i < \alpha} \int_{c}^{d} \phi_{i,n-i}(t) \frac{\partial^{n} f}{\partial x^{i} \partial y^{n-i}}(a,t) \ dt \\ &+ \iint_{X} \phi_{\alpha,\beta}(s,t) \frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta} f}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}}(s,t) \ ds \ dt, \end{split}$$

with

$$\phi_{n-j,j}(s) = \frac{1}{j! \cdot (n-j-1)!} L^{x,y} \left[(x-s)_+^{n-j-1} \cdot (y-c)^j \right],$$

$$\phi_{i,n-i}(t) = \frac{1}{i! \cdot (n-i-1)!} L^{x,y} \left[(x-a)^i \cdot (y-t)_+^{n-i-1} \right],$$

$$\phi_{\alpha,\beta}(s,t) = \frac{1}{(\alpha-1)! \cdot (\beta-1)!} L^{x,y} \left[(x-s)_+^{\alpha-1} \cdot (y-t)_+^{\beta-1} \right]$$

1.2 Radial basis functions

Definition 1.2.1. [44] The function $\Psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is *radial* if there is a function $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\Psi(\mathbf{x}) = \psi(||\mathbf{x}||)$, with $|| \cdot ||$ usually denoting the Euclidean norm.

In the RBF case, the interpolant s is considered to have the form [44]

$$s(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} a_i \Psi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i), \qquad (1.2.1)$$

for $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\mathbf{x}_i \in X$, $i = 1, \dots, K$, and $\Psi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i) = \psi(d(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i))$, with $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$.

The interpolation conditions required to be satisfied [44]

$$s(\mathbf{x}_i) = f(\mathbf{x}_i), \ i = 1, \dots, K, \tag{1.2.2}$$

lead to the linear system

$$Ma = f, (1.2.3)$$

where

$$M \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times K}, \ M_{ij} = \psi(d(\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_j)), \ i, j = 1, \dots, K,$$
$$a = (a_1, \dots, a_K)^T, \ f = (f_1, \dots, f_K)^T.$$

To obtain a unique solution for the system (1.2.3), the interpolation matrix M should be invertible. As pointed out in [93], from a numerical point of view, a requirement that comes out naturally is that M should be strictly positive definite.

Often, the study of the strictly positive definiteness of the matrix M will be reduced to the same study applied to the function Ψ , which we will follow in the sequel.

Theorem 1.2.2. [93] Let $\Psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function. Then, Ψ is strictly positive definite if and only if it is even and for all $K \in \mathbb{N}$ and for all $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_K)^T \in \mathbb{R}^K \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K}\sum_{j=1}^{K}a_{i}a_{j}\Psi(\mathbf{x}_{i},\mathbf{x}_{j})>0,$$

with $\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_K \in \mathbb{R}^n$, distinct.

If in the above settings, we let $a \in \mathbb{R}^K$ and ">" is substituted by " \geq ", the term strictly positive definite becomes positive definite.

Since dealing with RBFs, it is often encountered in literature to also refer to the univariate function ψ as radial (strictly) positive definite function, as emphasized in [44].

Lemma 1.2.3. [44] Given that $\Psi = \psi \circ d$, we say that ψ is radial (strictly) positive definite on \mathbb{R}^m , for any $m \leq n$, if Ψ is radial (strictly) positive definite on \mathbb{R}^n .

Often, a polynomial is added to the interpolant s given in (1.2.1), so it becomes [44]

$$s(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} a_i \Psi(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{D} A_i y_i(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (1.2.4)$$

where $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\{y_1, \ldots, y_D\}$ forms a basis of \mathbb{P}_{m-1}^n , with $D = \dim \mathbb{P}_{m-1}^n = \binom{m+n-1}{m-1}$.

Besides the interpolatory conditions (1.2.2), one usually adds D constraints of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K} a_i y_j(\mathbf{x}_i) = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, D,$$
(1.2.5)

to obtain a unique solution. The polynomial precision is strongly linked to the condition that $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_K\}$ forms a (m-1)-unisolvent set.

Definition 1.2.4. [44] We say that $\mathcal{X} = {\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_K} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is *m*-unisolvent if the only polynomial of maximum total degree *m* that vanishes on \mathcal{X} is the zero polynomial.

This problem is reduced to solving the following linear system [44]

$$\begin{pmatrix} M & Y \\ Y^T & O_D \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} a \\ A \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} f \\ \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.2.6)$$

where

$$M \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times K}, \ M_{ij} = \psi(d(\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_j)), \ i, j = 1, \dots, K,$$
$$Y \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times D}, \ Y_{ij} = y_j(\mathbf{x}_i), \ i = 1, \dots, K, \ j = 1, \dots, D,$$
$$a = (a_1, \dots, a_K)^T, \ A = (A_1, \dots, A_D)^T,$$
$$f = (f_1, \dots, f_K)^T, \text{ with } f_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i).$$

Theorem 1.2.5. [93] Let $\Psi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be an even, continuous function. Then, Ψ is strictly conditionally positive definite of order m if and only if for all $K \in \mathbb{N}$ and for all $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_K)^T \in \mathbb{R}^K \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ with

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K} a_i y(\mathbf{x}_i) = 0,$$

where y is any real-valued polynomial of degree less than m, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K}\sum_{j=1}^{K}a_{i}a_{j}\Psi(\mathbf{x}_{i},\mathbf{x}_{j})>0,$$

with $\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_K \in \mathbb{R}^n$, distinct.

If, in the theorem above, we consider $a \in \mathbb{R}^{K}$ and substitute ">" with " \geq ", we obtain the case of functions that are conditionally positive definite of order m.

Lemma 1.2.6. [44] Given that $\Psi = \psi \circ d$, we say that ψ is radial (strictly) conditionally positive definite on \mathbb{R}^m , for any $m \leq n$, if Ψ is radial (strictly) conditionally positive definite on \mathbb{R}^n .

Theorem 1.2.7. [44] If $\Psi = \psi \circ d$ is an even, radial strictly conditionally positive definite of order m function on \mathbb{R}^n and the distinct data sites $\{\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_K\}$ form an (m-1)-unisolvent set, then, the linear system given in (1.2.6) has a unique solution.

1.3 Univariate Shepard operators

This section is devoted to revising certain univariate Shepard operators combined with various interpolation polynomials, such as Lagrange [29], Taylor [29], Hermite [29], Birkhoff [29], [31], Abel-Goncharov [12] and Bernoulli [8].

Consider $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ and $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ a real-valued function such that for some given K interpolation nodes, $x_i \in X$, i = 1, ..., K, the values of f are available. Then, for $x \in X$, we can define the classical univariate Shepard operator as [82]

$$S_{\mu}f(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x)f(x_i), \qquad (1.3.1)$$

with the basis functions $A_{i,\mu}$ given by

$$A_{i,\mu}(x) = \frac{|x - x_i|^{-\mu}}{\sum_{j=1}^{K} |x - x_j|^{-\mu}}, \quad i = 1, \dots, K, \ x_i \neq x_j, \text{ for } i \neq j, \ j = 1, \dots, K,$$
(1.3.2)

and $\mu > 0$ an arbitrary parameter.

1.3.1 Univariate Shepard-Lagrange operators

This operator was studied by Coman and Trîmbiţaş in [29]. The *univariate Shepard-Lagrange* operator is given by [29]

$$SL_k[f](x) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x) L_k^i[f](x), \qquad (1.3.3)$$

with

$$L_k^i[f](x) = \sum_{j=0}^k \prod_{\alpha=0, \ \alpha \neq j}^k \frac{(x - x_{i+\alpha})}{(x_{i+j} - x_{i+\alpha})} f(x_{i+j}),$$
(1.3.4)

 $x_{K+j} = x_j, \ j = 1, \dots, k.$

1.3.2 Univariate Shepard-Taylor operators

This operator was studied by Coman and Trîmbiţaş in [29]. Consider the sets

$$\Delta = \{\eta_{i,j}(f) = f^{(j)}(x_i) : i = 1, \dots, K, j = 0, \dots, k, k \in \mathbb{N}^*\}$$

and

$$\Delta_i = \{\eta_{i,p}(f): p = 0, \dots, k\},\$$

such that Δ_i is a subset of Δ associated to η_i , having $\eta_i \in \Delta_i$, for all $i = 1, \ldots, K$.

Under these assumptions, the univariate Shepard-Taylor operator is defined as [29]

$$ST_k[f](x) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x) T_k^i[f](x), \qquad (1.3.5)$$

with

$$T_k^i[f](x) = \sum_{j=0}^k \frac{(x-x_i)^j}{j!} f^{(j)}(x_i).$$
(1.3.6)

1.3.3 Univariate Shepard-Hermite operators

The univariate Shepard-Hermite interpolant is defined as [29]

$$SH_k[f](x) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x) H_k^i[f](x), \qquad (1.3.7)$$

with $H_k^i[f]$ being a Hermite-type operator of the form

$$H_k^i[f](x) = \sum_{j=i}^{i+k} \sum_{p=0}^{r_j} h_{jp}(x) f^{(p)}(x_j),$$

with h_{jp} denoting the fundamental Hermite polynomials, considering $x_{K+i} = x_i$, $i \in \mathbb{N}$, $i \leq k$ and $1 \leq k \leq K$.

1.3.4 Univariate Shepard-Birkhoff operators

Coman and Trîmbiţaş studied the Shepard-Birkhoff operator in the univariate case in [29] and [31]. It is defined as

$$SBH_{k}[f](x) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x) BH_{k}^{i}[f](x), \qquad (1.3.8)$$

with $BH_k^i[f]$, for $1 \le k \le K$, being the kth degree Birkhoff polynomial

$$BH_k^i[f](x) = \sum_{j=i}^{i+k} \sum_{p \in I_j} b_{jp}(x) f^{(p)}(x_j),$$

considering $x_{K+i} = x_i, \ 1 \le i \le k$.

In contrast to the Hermite case, this polynomial does not always exist, nor is it always unique.

1.3.5 Univariate Shepard-Abel-Goncharov operators

The Abel-Goncharov operator has the advantage that it always exists and is unique, by contrast to the last polynomial. We will consider a set of K + 1 interpolation nodes, x_i , $i = 0, \ldots, K$. The problem that appears in this case is to find an interpolation polynomial $P_K[f]$ of degree K, such that we have

$$f^{(i)}(x_i) = P_K^{(i)}[f](x_i), \ i = 0, \dots, K.$$

This polynomial can be expressed as [42]

$$P_K[f](x) = \sum_{i=0}^{K} g_i(x) f^{(i)}(x_i),$$

 g_i being the Goncharov polynomials [42].

The univariate Shepard-Abel-Goncharov operator was studied by Cătinaș in [12]. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $k \leq K$ and for each node x_i , $i = 0, \ldots, K$, consider the following set [12]

$$\mathcal{X}_{i,k} = \{x_i, \dots, x_{i+k}\},\$$

with $x_{K+i+1} = x_i$, i = 0, ..., k, and its associated Abel-Goncharov operator

$$P_k^i[f](x) = \sum_{j=i}^{i+k} g_{j-i}^i(x) f^{(j-i)}(x_j), \ i = 0, \dots, K,$$

where

$$g_0^i(x) = 1,$$

$$g_1^i(x) = x - x_i,$$

$$g_j^i(x) = \frac{1}{j!} \left[x^j - \sum_{p=0}^{j-1} g_p(x) {j \choose p} x_{p+i}^{j-p} \right], \ j \ge 1.$$

We can define the *univariate Shepard-Abel-Goncharov* operator as [12]

$$SAG_{k}[f](x) = \sum_{i=0}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x) P_{k}^{i}[f](x).$$
(1.3.9)

1.3.6 Univariate Shepard-Bernoulli operators

Consider $X = [a, b], f \in C^k[a, b], k \ge 1$ and K distinct interpolation nodes $x_i \in X, i \in \{1, \ldots, K\}$, arranged in ascending order. Caira and Dell'Accio defined the *univariate Shepard-Bernoulli operator* as follows [8]

$$SB_k[f](x) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x) B_k[f; x_i, x_{i+1}](x), \qquad (1.3.10)$$

with the Bernoulli operators $B_k[f; x_i; x_{i+1}]$ expressed as

$$B_k[f;x_i,x_{i+1}](x) = f(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^k \frac{h^{j-1}}{j!} \left(B_j\left(\frac{x-x_i}{h}\right) - B_j \right) \left(f^{(j-1)}(x_{i+1}) - f^{(j-1)}(x_i) \right),$$

for $h = x_{i+1} - x_i$ and $x_{K+1} = x_{K-1}$.

In general, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the Bernoulli polynomials $B_n(\cdot)$ are defined recursively as [55]

$$\begin{cases} B_0(x) = 1, \\ B'_n(x) = nB_{n-1}(x), \ n \ge 1, \\ \int_0^1 B_n(x) \ dx = 0, \ n \ge 1. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.11)

For x = 0, one obtains the Bernoulli numbers B_n , i.e., $B_n = B_n(0)$.

1.3.7 Modified univariate Shepard operators

Franke and Nielson proposed in [47] a local procedure to compute the operator, that consists of substituting the weight functions $A_{i,\mu}$ by

$$w_{i,\mu}(x) = \left(\frac{R_w - |x - x_i|}{R_w |x - x_i|}\right)_+^{\mu}, \qquad (1.3.12)$$

with R_w a radius of influence that varies with *i*, resulting in the so-called *modified univariate* Shepard operator [47]

$$S_W f(x) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{K} w_{i,\mu}(x) f(x_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^{K} w_{i,\mu}(x)}.$$
(1.3.13)

1.4 Bivariate Shepard operators

In this section, we direct our attention to the two-dimensional case Shepard studied in [82]. We will focus on presenting this method in its classical (global) form, together with some modified (local) versions developed in [46], [47], [76]. Afterward, we shall discuss some well-known Shepard interpolants combined with different operators, such as Lagrange [30], Taylor [28], Hermite [24], Birkhoff [25], complete Hermite-Birkhoff [38], Lidstone [9], [13] and Bernoulli [11], [37].

Consider an objective function $f: X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ whose values $f_i = f(x_i, y_i), i = 1, \dots, K$, are known on a set of scattered data $\mathcal{X} = \{(x_i, y_i), i = 1, \dots, K\} \subset X$. Classically, as proposed by Shepard, this interpolation scheme is given by [82]

$$S_{\mu}f(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y)f(x_i,y_i), \qquad (1.4.1)$$

with the weight functions $A_{i,\mu}$ defined as

$$A_{i,\mu}(x,y) = \frac{\prod_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{K} d_{j}^{\mu}(x,y)}{\sum_{\substack{k=1\\j=1\\j\neq k}}^{K} \prod_{j=1}^{K} d_{j}^{\mu}(x,y)},$$
(1.4.2)

considering the control parameter $\mu > 0$ and $d_i(x, y)$ the distances between $(x, y) \in X$ and the scattered points $(x_i, y_i) \in \mathcal{X}$, i = 1, ..., K. As in the previous cases discussed in this thesis, the Euclidean distance is considered.

To improve the accuracy of this global method, Franke and Nielson proposed a local approach in [47] which was further discussed and developed by Franke in [46] and by Renka in [76]. Known as the *modified Shepard operator*, it is given as [47]

$$S_W f(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \overline{w}_{i,\mu}(x,y) f(x_i, y_i),$$
 (1.4.3)

with the compact support basis function $\overline{w}_{i,\mu}$ of the form

$$\overline{w}_{i,\mu}(x,y) = \frac{w_{i,\mu}(x,y)}{\sum_{j=1}^{K} w_{j,\mu}(x,y)},$$
(1.4.4)

for

$$w_{i,\mu}(x,y) = \left[\frac{(R_w - d_i(x,y))_+}{R_w d_i(x,y)}\right]^{\mu}, \ \mu > 0,$$

considering $d_i(x, y)$ as the Euclidean distance between the *i*th node and the point (x, y), and R_w a radius of influence that varies with the index *i*.

Shepard himself considered in [82] an improvement of the method by adding the first-order partial derivatives of the function f, obtaining

$$S'_{\mu}f(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y) \left[f(x_i,y_i) + (x-x_i)\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(x_i,y_i) + (y-y_i)\frac{\partial f}{\partial y}(x_i,y_i) \right].$$
 (1.4.5)

In this manner, the degree of exactness is 1 and the interpolation properties hold also for the first-order partial derivatives.

1.4.1 Bivariate Shepard-Lagrange operators

This kind of operator was studied by Coman and Trîmbiţaş in [30]. For the sake of brevity, denote the node (x_i, y_i) by \mathbf{x}_i , i = 1, ..., K. If we associate to each node \mathbf{x}_i a set of m points

$$\mathcal{X}_{i,m} = \{\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i+m-1}\}, \ i = 1, \dots, K, \ m < K,$$

where $\mathbf{x}_{K+i} = \mathbf{x}_i$, i = 1, ..., m - 1, then we can introduce the following bivariate Lagrange polynomial of degree $n, L_n^i[f]$, as [30]

$$L_n^i[f](x,y) = \sum_{j=i}^{i+m-1} l_j(x,y) f(x_j,y_j), \text{ for each } i = 1,\dots,K,$$
 (1.4.6)

with l_j denoting the corresponding cardinal polynomials, i.e.,

$$l_j(\mathbf{x}_k) = \delta_{jk}$$
, for each $j, k = i, \dots, i + m - 1$

The existence and uniqueness of $L_n^i[f]$, i = 1, ..., K, are conditioned by the requirement that the points \mathbf{x}_j , j = i, ..., i + m - 1, should not lie on an algebraic curve of degree n, represented as $\sum_{\alpha+\beta\leq n} \lambda_{\alpha,\beta} x^{\alpha} y^{\beta} = 0$. Furthermore, the degree *n* of the Lagrange polynomial $L_n^i[f]$ should be chosen such that m = (n+1)(n+2)/2 < K.

Under these assumptions, the *bivariate Shepard-Lagrange operator* is written as [30]

$$SL_n[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y) L_n^i[f](x,y).$$
(1.4.7)

1.4.2 Bivariate Shepard-Taylor operators

When certain information regarding the partial derivatives of the function f are known, we can improve the bivariate Shepard operator by combining it with a Taylor polynomial $T_n^i[f]$ of degree n attached to a node $\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i), i = 1, ..., K$, which is defined as [28]

$$T_n^i[f](x,y) = \sum_{\alpha+\beta \le n} \frac{(x-x_i)^{\alpha}(y-y_i)^{\beta}}{\alpha!\beta!} \cdot \frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta}f}{\partial x^{\alpha}\partial y^{\beta}}(x_i,y_i).$$
(1.4.8)

In this manner, the Shepard interpolant of Taylor-type obtained has the form [28]

$$ST_n[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y) T_n^i[f](x,y).$$
(1.4.9)

1.4.3 Bivariate Shepard-Hermite operators

In this subsection, we will present the main results regarding the Shepard operator combined with a Hermite-type polynomial, published in [24] by Coman. Consider the following Hermite data known for f:

$$\Delta_H(f) = \left\{ \eta_i^{(\alpha,\beta)} f : \eta_i^{(\alpha,\beta)} f = \frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta} f}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}} (x_i, y_i), \ \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}, \ \alpha+\beta \le r_i, \ i = 1, \dots, K \right\}.$$

To each sample point \mathbf{x}_i , we attach a set of m_i points, $i = 1, \ldots, K$, denoted by \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i} and defined as

$$\mathcal{X}_{i,m_i} = \{\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i+m_i-1}\}, \ m_i \in \mathbb{N}^*, m_i < K-1,$$

setting $\mathbf{x}_{K+i} = \mathbf{x}_i$, $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us denote by

$$\Delta_i(f) = \{\eta_i^{(\alpha,\beta)}f : \alpha + \beta \le r_i\}$$

the information we know about the node \mathbf{x}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, K$, and by

$$\Delta_{i,m_i}(f) = \bigcup_{j=0}^{m_i-1} \Delta_{i+j}(f)$$

the union of the sets containing the information about the nodes in \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i} . The bivariate Hermite polynomial $H_{n_i}^i[f]$, i = 1, ..., K, of degree n_i is the polynomial that fulfills

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta}H^i_{n_i}[f]}{\partial x^{\alpha}\partial y^{\beta}}(x_j, y_j) = \frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta}f}{\partial x^{\alpha}\partial y^{\beta}}(x_j, y_j)$$
(1.4.10)

for each $(x_j, y_j) \in \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i}$ with $\alpha + \beta \leq r_j$.

The degree n_i should be chosen such that $\operatorname{card}(\Delta_{i,m_i}(f)) = \frac{(n_i+1)(n_i+2)}{2}$, for each $i = 1, \ldots, K$. If the Hermite polynomial $H^i_{n_i}$ exists, under all the above assumptions, we can define the combined Shepard-Hermite operator as [24]

$$SH_{n_1,\dots,n_K}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^K A_{i,\mu}(x,y)H^i_{n_i}[f](x,y).$$

1.4.4 Bivariate Shepard-Birkhoff operators

A more general case that extends the operators presented in the previous subsections is the Birkhoff-type problem, which was studied by Coman in [25].

Consider the subsequent Birkhoff-type data about a real-valued function $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$

$$\Delta_B(f) = \left\{ \eta_i^{(\alpha,\beta)} f : \eta_i^{(\alpha,\beta)} f = \frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta} f}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}} (x_i, y_i), \ (\alpha,\beta) \in I_i \subseteq \mathbb{N}^2, \ i = 1, \dots, K \right\}.$$

As in the Hermite case, to each node \mathbf{x}_i we associate a set \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i} of m_i points, $m_i \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $m_i < K - 1$, $i = 1, \ldots, K$, of the form

$$\mathcal{X}_{i,m_i} = \{\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i+m_i-1}\},\$$

and taking into account that $\Delta_i(f)$ represents the known data of f at \mathbf{x}_i , i.e.,

$$\Delta_i(f) = \left\{ \eta_i^{(\alpha,\beta)} f : (\alpha,\beta) \in I_i \right\},\,$$

we also define the following information data set for the nodes in \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i}

$$\Delta_{i,m_i}(f) = \bigcup_{j=0}^{m_i-1} \Delta_{i+j}(f)$$

agreeing that $\mathbf{x}_{K+i} = x_i, i \in \mathbb{N}$.

The generalization of the Lagrange, Taylor and Hermite problems consists of finding the polynomial $BH_{n_i}^i$ of total degree n_i that meets the interpolation conditions

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta} BH_{n_i}^i[f]}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}}(x_j, y_j) = \frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta} f}{\partial x^{\alpha} \partial y^{\beta}}(x_j, y_j), \qquad (1.4.11)$$

for every $(x_j, y_j) \in \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i}$, with $(\alpha, \beta) \in I_j$.

When $r_i := \operatorname{card}(\Delta_{i,m_i}(f)) = \frac{(n_i+1)(n_i+2)}{2}$, the matrix of the system resulting from (1.4.11) is square, following that the system has a unique solution in the case of a non-zero determinant. The Shepard operator of Birkhoff type in this case is defined as [25]

$$SBH_{n_1,\dots,n_K}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^K A_{i,\mu}(x,y)BH^i_{n_i}[f](x,y).$$
(1.4.12)

As in the Hermite case, the difficulty that arises is to correctly select subsets \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i} such that $\operatorname{card}(\Delta_{i,m_i}(f)) = r_i$ and also that the matrix associated to the system (1.4.11) has a non-zero determinant, for every $i = 1, \ldots, K$.

Definition 1.4.1. [25] A sequence of subsets \mathcal{X}_{i,m_i} , $i = 1, \ldots, K$, is called *admissible* if $\operatorname{card}(\Delta_{i,m_i}(f)) = r_i$ and the matrix associated to the system consisting of the corresponding interpolation equations has a non-zero determinant.

1.4.5 Bivariate Shepard operator of complete Hermite-Birkhoff type

Another approach to constructing a combined Shepard operator involves using complete Hermite-Birkhoff polynomials, as Dell'Accio and Di Tommaso proposed in [38]. For an open, convex and bounded set X and the data sites $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i, i = 1, ..., K\} \subset X$, they considered the local Shepard operator, i.e., the modified form of it introduced in (1.4.3).

Assume that for each sample point \mathbf{x}_i , i = 1, ..., K, the following Hermite-Birkhoff data-type is known

$$\Delta_i(f) = \left\{ \frac{\partial^{\alpha+\beta} f}{\partial^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta}}(\mathbf{x}_i) : (\alpha,\beta) \in I_i \subset \mathbb{N}^2, \ \alpha+\beta \le r_i \right\},\$$

imposing that, if the value of a partial derivative of order γ of f is available at \mathbf{x}_i , then all the other partial derivatives of the same order γ are known.

According to [38], the union of these information sets $\Delta(f) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{K} \Delta_i(f)$ is called a set of complete Hermite-Birkhoff data.

We are going to introduce several notations from [38]. First, consider T(i) to be the triangle that has a vertex in \mathbf{x}_i and the other two in \mathbf{x}_j and \mathbf{x}_k , such that the latter two are contained in the closed ball of radius R_i , centered at \mathbf{x}_i . The point \mathbf{x}_i is considered to be the *referring vertex* of T(i). In a counterclockwise movement, for simplicity of notations, we denote the three vertices as follows: $\mathbf{x}_1 := \mathbf{x}_i$, $\mathbf{x}_2 := \mathbf{x}_j$, $\mathbf{x}_3 := \mathbf{x}_k$.

Denoting by $\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z})$ the signed area of the triangle with vertices $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z}$, we introduce the barycentric coordinates with respect to the triangle T(i) as

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_3)}{\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_3)}, \quad \lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_3)}{\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_3)}, \quad \lambda_3(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x})}{\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_3)}.$$
 (1.4.13)

In addition, we need to use the directional derivatives along the sides of the triangle T(i). Considering "." to be the Euclidean inner product, they are defined as

$$D_{ij}f(\mathbf{x}) = (\mathbf{x}_i - \mathbf{x}_j) \cdot \nabla f(\mathbf{x})$$

= $(x_i - x_j)\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(\mathbf{x}) + (y_i - y_j)\frac{\partial f}{\partial y}(\mathbf{x}), \ i, j = 1, 2, 3, \ i \neq j.$ (1.4.14)

The composition of these directional derivatives is expressed as

$$D_1^{(\gamma_1,\gamma_2)} = D_{21}^{\gamma_1} D_{31}^{\gamma_2}, \quad D_2^{(\gamma_1,\gamma_2)} = D_{12}^{\gamma_1} D_{32}^{\gamma_2}, \quad D_3^{(\gamma_1,\gamma_2)} = D_{13}^{\gamma_1} D_{23}^{\gamma_2}, \quad (1.4.15)$$

for $(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \in \mathbb{N}^2$.

Now, we can write the complete Hermite-Birkhoff polynomial $HB^{T(i)}[f]$ as a combination between the values of the directional derivatives and some polynomials in the variable $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ such as [38]

$$HB^{T(i)}[f](\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \sum_{m} q_{1,m}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) D_{1}^{(\alpha_{m}^{1},\alpha_{m}^{2})} f(\mathbf{x}_{1}) + \sum_{p} q_{2,p}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) D_{2}^{(\beta_{p}^{1},\beta_{p}^{2})} f(\mathbf{x}_{2}) + \sum_{s} q_{3,s}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) D_{3}^{(\gamma_{s}^{1},\gamma_{s}^{2})} f(\mathbf{x}_{3}), \qquad (1.4.16)$$

with

$$\{(\alpha_m^1, \alpha_m^2)\}_m = I_i, \ \{(\beta_p^1, \beta_p^2)\}_p \subset I_j, \ \{(\gamma_s^1, \gamma_s^2)\}_s \subset I_k,$$

and

$$\operatorname{card}(\{m\}) + \operatorname{card}(\{p\}) + \operatorname{card}(\{s\}) = \frac{(n_i + 1)(n_i + 2)}{2}$$

Remark 1.4.2. We have that $BH^{T(i)}[f] \in \mathbb{P}^2_{n_i}$.

After completing the steps of the algorithm consisting of determining $HB^{T(i)}[f]$, the modified Shepard operator of Hermite-Birkhoff-type can be written as [38]

$$S_{HB}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \overline{w}_{i,\mu}(x,y) HB^{T(i)}[f](x,y).$$
(1.4.17)

1.4.6 Bivariate Shepard-Lidstone operators

The Lidstone operator is constructed based on the Lidstone polynomials [1]

$$\begin{cases} \Lambda_0(x) = x, \\ \Lambda_n''(x) = \Lambda_{n-1}(x), \ n \ge 1 \\ \Lambda_n(0) = \Lambda_n(1), \ n \ge 1. \end{cases}$$
(1.4.18)

In this subsection, we present two approaches to constructing combined Shepard-Lidstone operators. The first approach, proposed by Cătinaş in [13], extends the Lidstone polynomials on a rectangular domain. The second one, developed by Caira, Dell'Accio and Di Tommaso in [9], relies on the approximation formula over a triangular domain utilizing this kind of polynomials, as presented in [34].

For the rectangular case, we shall first define the Lidstone interpolants in the univariate case and extend them afterward to the two-dimensional case. Let [a, b], [c, d] be two intervals of real numbers and denote by Δ_1 : $a = x_1 < x_2 < \ldots < x_{K_1} = b$ and Δ_2 : $c = y_1 < y_2 < \ldots < y_{K_2} = d$, the uniform partitions of [a, b] and [c, d], with stepsizes $h_1 = \frac{b-a}{K_1-1}$ and $h_2 = \frac{d-c}{K_2-1}$, respectively. We also consider

$$L_n(\Delta_1) = \{ p \in C[a, b] : p \in \mathbb{P}_{2n-1} \text{ for each subinterval } [x_i, x_{i+1}], i = 1, \dots, K_1 - 1 \}.$$

For $f \in C^{2n-2}[a, b]$, the Lidstone interpolant can be written as [1]

$$L_n^{\Delta_1}[f](x) = \sum_{i=1}^{K_1} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} l_{i,j}^n(x) f^{(2j)}(x_i), \qquad (1.4.19)$$

with

$$l_{i,j}^{n}(x) = \begin{cases} \Lambda_{j}\left(\frac{x-x_{i-1}}{h_{1}}\right)h_{1}^{2j}, & x \in [x_{i-1}, x_{i}], \ i = 2, \dots, K_{1}, \\ \Lambda_{j}\left(\frac{x_{i+1}-x}{h_{1}}\right)h_{1}^{2j}, & x \in [x_{i}, x_{i+1}], \ i = 1, \dots, K_{1} - 1, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

The operator (1.4.19) satisfies the following interpolation properties [1]

$$L_n^{\Delta_1}[f]^{(2j)}(x_i) = f^{(2j)}(x_i), \ j = 0, \dots, n-1, \ i = 1, \dots, K_1$$

In the bivariate case, for $f \in C^{2n-2,2n-2}([a,b] \times [c,d])$ and a rectangular partition $\Delta = \Delta_1 \times \Delta_2$ of $[a,b] \times [c,d]$, the unique Lidstone interpolant is expressed as [1]

$$L_{n}^{\Delta}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K_{1}} \sum_{\alpha=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=1}^{K_{2}} \sum_{\beta=0}^{n-1} l_{i,\alpha}^{n}(x) l_{j,\beta}^{n}(y) \frac{\partial^{2\alpha+2\beta} f}{\partial x^{2\alpha} \partial y^{2\beta}}(x_{i}, y_{j}), \qquad (1.4.20)$$

possessing the similar interpolation properties of the univariate case

$$\frac{\partial^{2\alpha+2\beta}L_n^{\Delta}[f]}{\partial x^{2\alpha}\partial y^{2\beta}}(x_i, y_j) = \frac{\partial^{2\alpha+2\beta}f}{\partial x^{2\alpha}\partial y^{2\beta}}(x_i, y_j),$$

$$\alpha, \beta = 0, \dots, n-1, \ i = 1, \dots, K_1, \ j = 1, \dots, K_2.$$
(1.4.21)

We confine ourselves to the case of $K_1 = K_2 =: K$ and consider on each subrectangle $\Delta_i = [x_i, x_{i+i}] \times [y_i, y_{i+1}] \subseteq [a, b] \times [c, d], i = 1, ..., K$, the following Lidstone-type data

$$\mathcal{L}_{i}(f) = \left\{ \frac{\partial^{4\alpha} f}{\partial x^{2\alpha} \partial y^{2\alpha}}(x_{i}, y_{i}), \frac{\partial^{4\alpha} f}{\partial x^{2\alpha} \partial y^{2\alpha}}(x_{i+1}, y_{i+1}), \ \alpha = 0, \dots, n-1 \right\}.$$

Considering $L_n^{\Delta_i}[f]$ the restriction of the operator given in (1.4.20) to the rectangle Δ_i , we define the *bivariate Shepard-Lidstone operator* as [13]

$$SL_{n}^{\Delta}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y) L_{n}^{\Delta_{i}}[f](x,y).$$
(1.4.22)

In the last part of this section, we discuss a different method to construct combined Shepard-Lidstone operators, proposed in [9]. As in the previous section, the approach is based on considering a three-point extension of the univariate Lidstone polynomial to a triangle T(i), $i = 1, \ldots, K$, with referring vertex \mathbf{x}_i and the other two vertices \mathbf{x}_j , \mathbf{x}_k , situated in the closed ball B_i of center \mathbf{x}_i and radius R_i , denoted as $\mathbf{x}_1 := \mathbf{x}_i$, $\mathbf{x}_2 := \mathbf{x}_j$, $\mathbf{x}_3 := \mathbf{x}_k$. As before, we use the barycentric coordinates $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ of $\mathbf{x} = (x, y)$ with respect to the vertices of the triangle T(i), defined as in (1.4.13). Moreover, we set

$$\mathbf{v}_1 = (x_2 - x_3, y_2 - y_3), \quad v_1 = \frac{\mathbf{v}_1}{\|\mathbf{v}_1\|},$$
$$\mathbf{v}_2 = (x_3 - x_1, y_3 - y_1), \quad v_2 = \frac{\mathbf{v}_2}{\|\mathbf{v}_2\|},$$
$$\mathbf{v}_3 = (x_2 - x_1, y_2 - y_1), \quad v_3 = \frac{\mathbf{v}_3}{\|\mathbf{v}_3\|}.$$

The bivariate Lidstone interpolant corresponding to the triangle T(i) has the form [9]

$$\tilde{L}_{n}^{T(i)}[f](x,y) = \sum_{\alpha=0}^{n-1} \left[\sum_{\beta=0}^{n-1-\alpha} \|\mathbf{v}_{2}\|^{2\beta} \left(\Lambda_{\beta}(1-\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{3}) \frac{\partial^{2\alpha+2\beta}f}{\partial v_{2}^{2\beta} \partial v_{1}^{2\alpha}}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) + \Lambda_{\beta}(\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3}) \frac{\partial^{2\alpha+2\beta}f}{\partial v_{2}^{2\beta} \partial v_{1}^{2\alpha}}(\mathbf{x}_{3}) \right) \cdot \Lambda_{\alpha} \left(\frac{\lambda_{3}}{\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3}} \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{\beta=0}^{n-1-\alpha} \|\mathbf{v}_{3}\|^{2\beta} \left(\Lambda_{\beta}(1-\lambda_{2}-\lambda_{3}) \frac{\partial^{2\alpha+2\beta}f}{\partial v_{3}^{2\beta} \partial v_{1}^{2\alpha}}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) + \Lambda_{\beta}(\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3}) \frac{\partial^{2\alpha+2\beta}f}{\partial v_{3}^{2\beta} \partial v_{1}^{2\alpha}}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \right) \cdot \Lambda_{\alpha} \left(\frac{\lambda_{2}}{\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3}} \right) \right] \cdot \|\mathbf{v}_{1}\|^{2\alpha} (\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3})^{2\alpha},$$

for $f \in C^{2n}(X)$, X convex domain, $(x, y) \in X$.

The modified form of the Shepard-Lidstone operator in this case is given by [9]

$$S\tilde{L}_{n}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \overline{w}_{i,\mu}(x,y)\tilde{L}_{n}^{T(i)}[f](x,y).$$
(1.4.24)

For each node \mathbf{x}_i , i = 1, ..., K, the corresponding triangle T(i) is chosen such that it is contained in the closed ball of center \mathbf{x}_i and radius R_i and in addition, minimizes the quantity $e_{\max}^{2n}(i) \left[e_{\max}^2(i)A(i)\right]^{2n-1}$, where $e_{\max}(i) = \max\{\|\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2\|, \|\mathbf{x}_2 - \mathbf{x}_3\|, \|\mathbf{x}_3 - \mathbf{x}_1\|\}$ and $A(i) = |2\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_3)|^{-1}$.

1.4.7 Bivariate Shepard-Bernoulli operators

An extension of real functions in Bernoulli polynomials over a rectangle was proposed by Costabile and Dell'Accio in [32]. Based on these operators, Cătinaş introduced the bivariate Shepard-Bernoulli interpolant in [11]. We present the main results of these two articles in the first part of the subsequent section.

Consider the rectangle $X = [a, b] \times [c, d] \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ and $f \in C^{m,n}(X)$. Assuming these conditions, we can define the Bernoulli-type interpolant as [32]

$$B_{m,n}[f](x,y) = f(a,c) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{h^{i-1}}{i!} S_i\left(\frac{x-a}{h}\right) \Delta_{(h,0)} \frac{\partial^{i-1}f}{\partial x^{i-1}}(a,c) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{k^{j-1}}{j!} S_j\left(\frac{y-c}{k}\right) \Delta_{(0,k)} \frac{\partial^{j-1}f}{\partial y^{j-1}}(a,c) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{h^{i-1}k^{j-1}}{i!j!} S_i\left(\frac{x-a}{h}\right) S_j\left(\frac{y-c}{k}\right) \Delta_{(h,k)} \frac{\partial^{i+j-2}f}{\partial x^{i-1}\partial y^{j-1}}(a,c),$$
(1.4.25)

considering the notations

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_{(h,0)}f(x,y) = f(x+h,y) - f(x,y), \\ &\Delta_{(0,k)}f(x,y) = f(x,y+k) - f(x,y), \\ &\Delta_{(h,k)}f(x,y) = f(x,y) - f(x+h,y) + f(x+h,y+k) - f(x,y+k), \end{split}$$

for h = b - a and k = d - c.

We also have that

$$S_i\left(\frac{x-a}{h}\right) = B_i\left(\frac{x-a}{h}\right) - B_i$$

with $B_i(\cdot)$ being the Bernoulli polynomials and $B_i = B_i(0)$ the Bernoulli numbers, defined in (1.3.11).

For the sake of brevity, we denote the operator introduced in (1.4.25) by $B_{m,n}[f; (a, c), (h, k)]$. Taking into account everything introduced above and considering a set of K sample points $\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i) \in X, \ i = 1, \dots, K$, we define the *combined Shepard operator of Bernoulli type in* the bivariate case as [11]

$$SB_{m,n}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y) B_{m,n}^{i}[f](x,y), \qquad (1.4.26)$$

$$B_{m,n}^{i}[f](x,y) = B_{m,n}[f;(x_{i},y_{i}),(h_{i},k_{i})], \ i = 1,\dots,K,$$

considering the rectangle $[x_i, x_{i+1}] \times [y_i, y_{i+1}]$, with $h_i = x_{i+1} - x_i$ and $k_i = y_{i+1} - y_i$, i = 1, ..., K, where $\mathbf{x}_{K+1} = \mathbf{x}_{K-1}$.

The three-point extended Bernoulli operator is obtained by assigning to each node \mathbf{x}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, K$, a triangle T(i) with other two data samples \mathbf{x}_j and \mathbf{x}_k as vertices, such that they are contained within the closed ball centered at \mathbf{x}_i with radius R_i . For ease of notation, in each triangle T(i) we adhere again to the convention that $\mathbf{x}_1 := \mathbf{x}_i$, $\mathbf{x}_2 := \mathbf{x}_j$, $\mathbf{x}_3 := \mathbf{x}_k$. We consider $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ the barycentric coordinates of a point $\mathbf{x} \in X$ relative to the triangle T(i), computed as in (1.4.13). Moreover, we require that $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ is a compact convex domain.

Assuming all of the above, for a real-valued function f of class $C^n(X)$, the Bernoulli operator of order n introduced in [37] is of the form

$$\tilde{B}_{n}^{T(i)}[f](x,y) = f(\mathbf{x}_{1}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{S_{i}(\lambda_{2} + \lambda_{3})}{i!} \left(D_{1}^{(0,i-1)}f(\mathbf{x}_{3}) - D_{1}^{(0,j-1)}f(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n-i+1} \frac{(\lambda_{2} + \lambda_{3})^{i-1}S_{i}\left(\frac{\lambda_{2}}{\lambda_{2} + \lambda_{3}}\right)S_{j}(\lambda_{2} + \lambda_{3})}{i!j!} (1.4.27) \cdot \left[(-1)^{i+j} \left(D_{2}^{(j-1,i-1)}f(\mathbf{x}_{2}) - D_{2}^{(j-1,i-1)}f(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \right) + (-1)^{j} \left(D_{3}^{(j-1,i-1)}f(\mathbf{x}_{3}) - D_{3}^{(j-1,i-1)}f(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \right) \right],$$

with the expressions for the directional derivatives and their compositions $D_i^{(\gamma_1,\gamma_2)}$, i = 1, 2, 3, provided in (1.4.14) and (1.4.15), respectively.

For each data sample \mathbf{x}_i , the choice of the corresponding triangle T(i) is made similarly as in the previous two cases.

We define the bivariate Shepard-Bernoulli operator of order n as [37]

$$S\tilde{B}_{n}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \overline{w}_{i,\mu}(x,y)\tilde{B}_{n}^{T(i)}[f](x,y).$$
(1.4.28)

1.5 Spherical data interpolation using the Shepard operator

This section intends to present some literature results regarding the interpolation problem on the *d*-dimensional unit sphere S^d . The case we are interested in is d = 2, since this kind of problem appears in many types of practical areas, where the data represents, for example, some physical phenomena measured on the surface of the Earth, so the unit sphere S^2 is suitable as a fitting model, as noted in [19], [53], [84]. Other topics that use spherical interpolation include modeling closed surfaces in CAGD, as mentioned in [36], or solving some geophysical problems (topography, magnetic field intensity, gravitational potential [53]).

The spherical approximation of functions was the subject of many authors' investigations. A frequent topic that was studied is based on the theory of radial basis functions (see, e.g., [5], [54], [58], [84]). Other authors focused on Shepard-like methods combined with radial basis functions (see, e.g., [18], [19], [20], [21], [35], [36]) or, when data about derivatives are available, combined,

for instance, with Hermite-Birkhoff polynomials [2]. Additionally, Shepard-type methods based on a spherical triangulation of the scattered data points have been proposed in [97], [98].

1.5.1 Spherical radial basis functions

The unit sphere S^2 is defined as

$$S^2 = \{ \mathbf{x} = (x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \|\mathbf{x}\| = 1 \},\$$

with $\|\cdot\|$ denoting the Euclidean norm. The surface area of S^2 is $\omega_2 = 4\pi$.

The geodesic metric between $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in S^2$, denoted by $g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$, is computed as [54]

$$g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \arccos(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), \tag{1.5.1}$$

with "." denoting the Euclidean inner product. This distance measures the arc length of the shortest path between \mathbf{x} and \mathbf{y} .

The spherical analog of the radial basis functions problem (1.2.1) uses instead of the Euclidean distance, the geodesic distance g and a spherical basis function (SBF) $\psi : [0, \pi] \to \mathbb{R}$. For a set of scattered data samples $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i \in S^2 : i = 1, ..., K\}$ with known values of a function $f: S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ on \mathcal{X} , the target is to find an interpolant s of the form [54]

$$s(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} a_i \psi(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i)), \qquad (1.5.2)$$

such that $s(\mathbf{x}_i) = f(\mathbf{x}_i), \ i = 1, \dots, K.$

The resulting linear system is [54]

$$Ma = f, \tag{1.5.3}$$

where

$$M \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times K}, \ M_{ij} = \psi(g(\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_j)), \ i, j = 1, \dots, K,$$
$$a = (a_1, \dots, a_K)^T, \ f = (f_1, \dots, f_K)^T, \text{ with } f_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i).$$

Often, as mentioned in [84], it is considered the approximation by spherical radial basis functions plus spherical harmonics (which are the analog of polynomials). In this situation, the interpolant has the form [54]

$$s_h(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^K a_i \psi(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i)) + y(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (1.5.4)$$

with y being a fitting spherical harmonic.

Definition 1.5.1. [54] A polynomial $p : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ of degree $d, d \ge 0$, is homogeneous of degree d if $p(t\mathbf{x}) = t^d p(\mathbf{x})$, for any $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ and t > 0.

Definition 1.5.2. [54] A polynomial $p : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ is *harmonic* if $\Delta p(\mathbf{x}) = 0$, for any $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, where Δ is the Laplace operator, i.e.,

$$\Delta p = \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2 p}{\partial z^2}.$$

Definition 1.5.3. [54] If \mathcal{P}_d is the set of polynomials of degree d in \mathbb{R}^3 that are harmonic and homogeneous of order d, the set of *spherical harmonics of exact order* d is given by the linear space

$$\mathcal{H}_d^*(S^2) = \{ p |_{S^2} : p \in \mathcal{P}_d \}.$$

Definition 1.5.4. [54] The space of spherical harmonics of maximum order d, denoted by $\mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$, is defined as

$$\mathcal{H}_d(S^2) = \bigoplus_{j=0}^d \mathcal{H}_j^*(S^2).$$

If y in (1.5.4) is a spherical harmonic of order d, after expanding it, we obtain the following form of the interpolant s_h [54]

$$s_h(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} a_i \psi(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i)) + \sum_{i=1}^{D} A_i y_i(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (1.5.5)$$

with $D = \dim \mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$ and $\{y_1, \ldots, y_D\}$ a basis of $\mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$.

Besides the interpolation conditions

$$s_h(\mathbf{x}_i) = f(\mathbf{x}_i), \ i = 1, \dots, K,$$
 (1.5.6)

the following linear constraints should be satisfied [54]

$$\sum_{k=1}^{K} a_k y_i(\mathbf{x}_k) = 0, \ i = 1, \dots, D.$$
(1.5.7)

Now we have an augmented linear system of K + D unknowns and K + D equations, that can be written in matrix form as [54]

$$\begin{pmatrix} M & Y \\ Y^T & \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} a \\ A \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} f \\ \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.5.8)$$

where

$$M \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times K}, \ M_{ij} = \psi(g(\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_j)), \ i, j = 1, \dots, K,$$

$$Y \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times D}, \ Y_{ij} = y_j(\mathbf{x}_i), \ i = 1, \dots, K, \ j = 1, \dots, D,$$

$$a = (a_1, \dots, a_K)^T, \ A = (A_1, \dots, A_D)^T,$$

$$f = (f_1, \dots, f_K)^T, \text{ with } f_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i).$$

According to [54], the SBF interpolants s and s_h uniquely exist if and only if the matrices in (1.5.3) and (1.5.8), respectively, are non-singular. Similar to the RBF case, this occurs for strictly positive and conditionally strictly positive definite functions on the sphere.

Definition 1.5.5. [54] Let $\psi : [0, \pi] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function. We say that ψ is strictly positive definite on S^2 ($\psi \in \text{SPD}$) if, for any set of K distinct data sites $\mathbf{x}_i \in S^2$, i = 1, ..., K, the quadratic form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K} \sum_{j=1}^{K} a_i a_j \psi(g(\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_j))$$
(1.5.9)

is positive on $\mathbb{R}^K \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$.

Theorem 1.5.6. [54] Any function $\psi \in SPD$ can provide a unique interpolant s as in (1.5.2).

Definition 1.5.7. [54] Let $\psi : [0, \pi] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function and $m \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that ψ is *conditionally strictly positive definite* on S^2 of order m ($\psi \in \text{CSPD}(m)$) if, for any set of K distinct data sites $\mathbf{x}_i \in S^2$, i = 1, ..., K, the quadratic form (1.5.9) is positive on

$$W_{m-1} = \Big\{ \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{R}^K \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\} : \sum_{i=1}^K a_i y(\mathbf{x}_i) = 0 \text{ for all } y \in \mathcal{H}_{m-1}(S^2) \Big\}.$$

Definition 1.5.8. [54] Consider $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $D = \dim \mathcal{H}_{m-1}(S^2)$. A set of distinct points $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i \in S^2 : i = 1, ..., D\}$ is called *unisolvent* with respect to $\mathcal{H}_{m-1}(S^2)$ if the only element that vanishes for each \mathbf{x}_i is the zero spherical harmonic.

Theorem 1.5.9. [54] Any function $\psi \in CSPD(m)$ can provide a unique interpolant s_h as in (1.5.5) if the unisolvency condition on the sphere is satisfied.

1.5.2 Shepard operator combined with spherical basis functions

The spherical interpolation of data using Shepard-type operators combined with radial basis functions has been thoroughly studied by Cavoretto and De Rossi (see, e.g., [18], [19], [20], [21], [35], [36]).

Let us consider the set of distinct nodes $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i, z_i), i = 1, ..., K\}$, lying on the unit sphere S^2 along with their corresponding function values $f_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i), i = 1, ..., K$, with $f: S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. For $\mathbf{x} = (x, y, z) \in S^2$ the modified spherical Shepard operator is given by [36]

$$S(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) f_j, \qquad (1.5.10)$$

with

$$\overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{w_j(\mathbf{x})}{\sum\limits_{k=1}^{K} w_k(\mathbf{x})}.$$
(1.5.11)

The weights w_j are defined as

$$w_j\left(\mathbf{x}\right) = \left[\frac{(R_j^w - g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_j))_+}{R_j^w g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_j)}\right]^{\mu}, \qquad (1.5.12)$$

with R_j^w a radius of influence about the node j and g the geodesic distance (1.5.1).

Definition 1.5.10. [36] The zonal basis function interpolant $s^{(1)} : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ associated to \mathcal{X} and to the corresponding function values of f on \mathcal{X} is defined as

$$s^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} a_j \psi(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_j)), \qquad (1.5.13)$$

with the coefficients a_j , j = 1, ..., K, obtained from the interpolation relations

$$s^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}_i) = f_i, \ i = 1, ..., K,$$

where $\psi : [0, \pi] \to \mathbb{R}$ is a spherical radial basis function.

Definition 1.5.11. [35] The augmented zonal basis function interpolant $s^{(2)} : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ associated to \mathcal{X} and to the corresponding function values of f on \mathcal{X} is defined as

$$s^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} a_j \psi(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_j)) + \sum_{k=1}^{D} A_k y_k(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (1.5.14)$$

where $y_k \in \mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$, k = 1, ..., D, are spherical harmonics of maximum order $d, D = \dim \mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$ and $\{y_1, ..., y_D\}$ forms a basis for $\mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$.

The coefficients a_j , j = 1, ..., K and A_k , k = 1, ..., D are obtained from

$$s^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}_i) = f_i, \ i = 1, ..., K,$$

and imposing the constraints

$$\sum_{i=1}^{K} a_i y_k(\mathbf{x}_i) = 0, \ k = 1, ..., D.$$

Definition 1.5.12. [36] Attaching to each point \mathbf{x}_j , j = 1, ..., K, a set I_j of indices of n_Z closest neighbors of \mathbf{x}_j , we define a *local zonal basis function interpolant* $s_j^{(1)} : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$s_{j}^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i \in I_{j}} a_{i}^{j} \psi(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{j})), \qquad (1.5.15)$$

with a_i^j , $i \in I_j$, j = 1, ..., K, resulting from imposing

$$s_j^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}_i) = f_i, \ i \in I_j, \ j = 1, ..., K.$$

Definition 1.5.13. [35] Attaching to each point \mathbf{x}_j , j = 1, ..., K, a set I_j of indices of n_Z closest neighbors of \mathbf{x}_j , we define the *augmented local zonal basis function interpolant* $s_j^{(2)} : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$s_{j}^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i \in I_{j}} a_{i}^{j} \psi(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{j})) + \sum_{k=1}^{D} A_{k}^{j} y_{k}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (1.5.16)$$

with $D = \dim \mathcal{H}_d(S^2), D \leq n_Z, \{y_1, \ldots, y_D\}$ basis for $\mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$.

The coefficients a_i^j , $i \in I_j$, j = 1, ..., K and A_k^j , k = 1, ..., D, are obtained imposing

$$s_j^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}_i) = f_i, \ i \in I_j, \ j = 1, ..., K,$$

and

$$\sum_{i \in I_j} a_i^j y_k(\mathbf{x}_i) = 0, \ j = 1, ..., K, \ k = 1, ..., D.$$

Definition 1.5.14. [35, 36] For a set of distinct nodes $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i \in S^2, i = 1, ..., K\}$ and the associated function values $f_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i), i = 1, ..., K$, for $f : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$, the modified spherical Shepard operator combined with a zonal basis function is given as

$$S^{(k)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) s_j^{(k)}(\mathbf{x}), \ k = 1, 2.$$
(1.5.17)

1.5.3 Spherical Shepard operator of Hermite-Birkhoff type

Allasia, Cavoretto and De Rossi proposed in [2] a method for spherical interpolation of scattered data based on Shepard-like cardinal basis functions and Hermite-Birkhoff-type operators.

The combined Shepard operator of Hermite-Birkhoff type is defined as [2]

$$H(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_i(\mathbf{x}) T[f](\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i, \Delta_i), \qquad (1.5.18)$$

where

$$T[f](\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i, \Delta_i) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Delta_i} \frac{\partial^{|\gamma|} f}{\partial x^{\gamma_1} \partial y^{\gamma_2} \partial z^{\gamma_3}}(\mathbf{x}_i) \cdot \prod_{j=1}^3 \frac{(u_j - u_j(\mathbf{x}_i))^{\gamma_j}}{\gamma_j!},$$
(1.5.19)

and A_i are some cardinal basis functions that satisfy the following conditions

$$A_i \in C^k(X), \ A_i(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0, \ \sum_{i=1}^K A_i(\mathbf{x}) = 1, \ A_i(\mathbf{x}_j) = \delta_{ij},$$
 (1.5.20)

and, moreover,

$$\frac{\partial^{|\gamma|} A_i}{\partial x^{\gamma_1} \partial y^{\gamma_2} \partial z^{\gamma_3}}(\mathbf{x}_j) = 0, \ \gamma \in \Delta_i, \ |\gamma| \in \{1, \dots, k\}, \ j = 1, \dots, K$$

To obtain a Shepard-like method, the cardinal basis functions can be expressed as [2]

$$A_{i}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{(\alpha(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{i}))^{-1}}{\sum_{j=1}^{K} (\alpha(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{j}))^{-1}}, \ A_{i}(\mathbf{x}_{i}) = 1, \ i = 1, \dots, K.$$
(1.5.21)

The function $\alpha : X \times X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ should be continuous and bounded, with $\alpha(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i) > 0, \forall \mathbf{x} \in X, \mathbf{x} \neq \mathbf{x}_i$ and $\alpha(\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_i) = 0, \forall \mathbf{x}_i \in \mathcal{X}$. In addition, α should be k-times continuously differentiable on X with

$$\frac{\partial^{|\gamma|}\alpha}{\partial x^{\gamma_1}\partial y^{\gamma_2}\partial z^{\gamma_3}}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{x}_i) \bigg|_{\mathbf{x}=\mathbf{x}_i} = 0, \ 0 < |\gamma| \le k, \ i = 1,\dots, K$$

Based on the geodesic distance g defined in (1.5.1), α can be written as

$$\alpha(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = (g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}))^{\mu}, \ \mu \in \mathbb{R}_+, \ \mu \ge k, \ \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in X.$$
(1.5.22)

Another approach developed in [2] implies a local method to construct the cardinal basis functions, of the form

$$\overline{w}_{i}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\tau(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{i}) \left(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{i})\right)^{-\mu}}{\sum\limits_{k=1}^{K} \tau(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{k}) \left(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{k})\right)^{-\mu}},$$
(1.5.23)

such that \overline{w}_i vanishes in the exterior of \mathbf{x}_i 's neighborhood, so

$$\tau(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i) = \left(1 - \frac{g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i)}{R}\right)_+^{k+1}, \ \mathbf{x} \in X, \ i = 1, \dots, K.$$

With this choice, the function $\tau : X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is of class C^k on X and, for a proper value of R > 0, it vanishes outside the ball of center \mathbf{x}_i and radius R.

Now, the new local Hermite-Birkhoff interpolation operator can be written as [2]

$$\tilde{H}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \overline{w}_i(\mathbf{x}) T[f](\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i, \Delta_i).$$
(1.5.24)

Chapter 2

Univariate Shepard operators obtained using least-squares polynomials

This chapter introduces a new univariate Shepard operator which is combined with polynomials constructed using the weighted least squares method. Section 2.1 presents the construction of these polynomials along with some of their properties, such as the interpolation properties, the degree of exactness and linearity. Section 2.2 deals with the resulting Shepard operator, proving that it inherits the previously mentioned properties. Finally, we analyze the error based on Peano's Theorem and provide some numerical examples that demonstrate the benefits of using these Shepard operators. The results obtained in this chapter were published in the paper Malina [62].

2.1 Construction and properties of univariate least-squares fitting polynomials

Renka introduced in [72], in 1988, an algorithm for improving the bivariate Shepard operator, considering a quadratic polynomial that interpolates the function f on a set of given nodes and also approximates the data in a weighted least squares way. Later on, in 1999, in [74], he improved this method by replacing the quadratic polynomial with a cubic one. In 2010, W. I. Thacker et al. [89] emphasized the main disadvantages of these two methods and suggested the combination of the Shepard operator with a linear polynomial that still fits the data in a weighted least squares sense.

Consider $X \subset \mathbb{R}$, $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ and K given real nodes, denoted by x_j , j = 1, ..., K. The values of the function f on the given nodes are known and denoted by $f_j = f(x_j), j = 1, ..., K$.

Under these assumptions, for a point $x \in X$, let us define the *n*th degree polynomial function

 $C_{i}^{n}[f], j = 1, ..., K, n \in \mathbb{N}$, as

$$C_j^n[f](x) = f_j + \sum_{k=1}^n a_{j,k} (x - x_j)^k, \qquad (2.1.1)$$

where the coefficients $a_{j,k}$ are found such that they minimize

$$E_{j} = \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{K} \lambda_{i,j} \left[C_{j}^{n}[f](x_{i}) - f_{i} \right]^{2}, \qquad (2.1.2)$$

where

$$\lambda_{i,j} = \frac{|x_i - x_j|^{-\mu}}{\sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq i}}^{K} |x_i - x_k|^{-\mu}},$$
(2.1.3)

for i, j = 1, ..., K and $\mu > 0$.

To find the coefficients $a_{j,k}$ (i.e., obtain the minimum of expression (2.1.2)), we solve the following system

$$\frac{\partial E_j}{\partial a_{j,k}} = 0, \text{ for each } k = 1, ..., n, \text{ and } j = 1, ..., K.$$

Further, for every j = 1, ..., K, one obtains

$$\frac{\partial E_j}{\partial a_{j,k}} = 2\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^K \lambda_{i,j} \left[\sum_{p=1}^n a_{j,p} (x_i - x_j)^p + (f_j - f_i) \right] (x_i - x_j)^k = 0, \text{ for each } k = 1, ..., n.$$

For every j = 1, ..., K, we can write the normal equations that result above in matrix form as

$$M_j \cdot a_j = b_j, \tag{2.1.4}$$

where M_j is a $n \times n$ matrix having on the entry (r, s) the element $\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^K \lambda_{i,j} (x_i - x_j)^{r+s}$, b_j is a column

vector of *n* elements with $\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{K} \lambda_{i,j} (x_i - x_j)^k (f_i - f_j)$ on the *k*th entry and $a_j = (a_{j,1}, a_{j,2}, ..., a_{j,n})^T$

is the vector of unknowns.

Theorem 2.1.1. The operator $C_i^n[f]$ defined in (2.1.1) satisfies the following interpolation properties

$$C_j^n[f](x_j) = f_j, \ j = 1, ..., K.$$

Theorem 2.1.2. The operator $C_j^n[f]$, j = 1, ..., K, has the degree of exactness n, i.e.,

$$dex(C_{j}^{n}[f]) = n, \ j = 1, ..., K.$$

Theorem 2.1.3. The operator $C_j^n[f]$ is linear.

2.2 Univariate Shepard operators combined with least squaresfitting polynomials

Definition 2.2.1. For $f : X \subset \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ and a set $\mathcal{X} = \{x_j : j = 1, ..., K\} \subset X$ of K interpolation nodes, such that the values of f are known on \mathcal{X} , we can define the *univariate* Shepard operator combined with a nth degree polynomial as

$$SP_{n}[f](x) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} A_{j,\mu}(x) C_{j}^{n}[f](x), \qquad (2.2.1)$$

with $C_j^n[f]$ defined in (2.1.1), $A_{j,\mu}$ given by (1.3.2) and $\mu > 0$.

Theorem 2.2.2. The following interpolation properties hold

$$SP_n[f](x_j) = f(x_j), \ j = 1, ..., K.$$

Theorem 2.2.3. The operator SP_n is linear.

Theorem 2.2.4. The Shepard operator SP_n has the degree of exactness n.

The interpolation formula for the univariate Shepard operator combined with a polynomial is given by

$$f = SP_n[f] + R_n[f],$$

with $R_n[f]$ denoting the remainder.

Theorem 2.2.5. If $f \in H^{n+1}[a, b]$, then

$$R_n[f](x) = \int_a^b \phi_n(x,t) f^{(n+1)}(t) \ dt$$

where

$$\phi_n(x,t) = \frac{(x-t)_+^n}{n!} - \sum_{j=1}^K A_{j,\mu}(x) \left[\frac{(x_j-t)_+^n}{n!} + \sum_{k=1}^n a_{j,k}(x-x_j)^k \right], \quad (2.2.2)$$

with $a_{j,k}$ given as solutions of $\frac{\partial E_j}{\partial a_{j,k}} = 0$, for each k = 1, ..., n, for

$$E_j = \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^K \lambda_{i,j} \left[\frac{(x_j - t)_+^n}{n!} + \sum_{k=1}^n a_{j,k} (x_i - x_j)^k - \frac{(x_i - t)_+^n}{n!} \right]^2$$

and $\lambda_{i,j}$ given in (2.1.3), j = 1, ..., K.

Chapter 3

Bivariate Shepard operators obtained using radial basis functions

This chapter introduces new combined Shepard operators in the two-dimensional case, using three radial basis functions: least squares thin-plate spline, inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric. This approach aims to achieve better approximation results, due to the proven efficacy of radial basis functions in both practical and theoretical contexts. Besides the classical and the modified forms of the operator, we also use an iterative method that is comparable to the latter one. The original results presented in Sections 3.1 and 3.2 were published in three articles: Cătinaş and Malina [14], [17] and Malina [61].

At the end of the chapter, in Section 3.3, we consider an application of some of these operators in the reconstruction of damaged black-and-white and color images. The results obtained in this section are contained in Malina [60].

3.1 The combined Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type

Consider f a real-valued function defined on $X \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, and $(x_i, y_i) \in X$ some distinct points, such that $f(x_i, y_i)$, $i = 1, \ldots, K$, are known.

Definition 3.1.1. The classical Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type is expressed as

$$S^{m}_{\mu}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y) F_{i}(x,y), \qquad (3.1.1)$$

where $A_{i,\mu}$, i = 1, ..., K, are defined by (1.4.2), for a given parameter $\mu > 0$ and the least squares thin-plate splines are given by

$$F_i(x,y) = \sum_{j=1}^{i} \alpha_j d_j^2 \log(d_j) + ax + by + c, \quad i = 1, ..., K,$$

$$(3.1.2)$$

$$\overline{r_i)^2 + (y - y_i)^2}$$

with $d_j = \sqrt{(x - x_j)^2 + (y - y_j)^2}$.

The coefficients α_i , a, b, c of F_i are found such that they minimize the expression

$$E = \sum_{i=1}^{K} [F_i(x_i, y_i) - f(x_i, y_i)]^2,$$

so, as solutions for systems of the following form (see, e.g., [64])

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & d_{12}^2 \log d_{12} & \cdots & d_{1K}^2 \log d_{1K} & x_1 & y_1 & 1 \\ d_{21}^2 \log d_{21} & 0 & \cdots & d_{2K}^2 \log d_{2K} & x_2 & y_2 & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ d_{K1}^2 \log d_{K1} & d_{K2}^2 \log d_{K2} & \cdots & 0 & x_K & y_K & 1 \\ x_1 & x_2 & \cdots & x_K & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ y_1 & y_2 & \cdots & y_K & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_2 \\ \vdots \\ \alpha_K \\ a \\ b \\ c \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ f_2 \\ \vdots \\ f_K \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.1.3)

with $d_{ij}^2 = (x_i - x_j)^2 + (y_i - y_j)^2$, $f_i = f(x_i, y_i)$, $i, j = 1, \dots, K$.

Definition 3.1.2. We define the modified Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type as

$$S_W^m[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^K \overline{w}_{i,\mu}(x,y) F_i(x,y), \qquad (3.1.4)$$

with $\overline{w}_{i,\mu}$ given by (1.4.4) and F_i given by (3.1.2), for i = 1, ..., K.

To improve upon the methods described above, we consider a smaller set of $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ knot points (\hat{x}_j, \hat{y}_j) , j = 1, ..., k, that will be representative for the original set of K interpolation nodes. This set is obtained following an idea proposed by J. R. McMahon in 1986. The steps of the algorithm are outlined below (see, e.g., [64], [65]):

- 1. Generate k random knot points, with k < K;
- 2. Assign to each point the closest knot point, based on the Euclidean distance;
- 3. If there are knots with no point assigned, replace them with the nearest point ;
- 4. Compute the next set of knots as the arithmetic mean of all corresponding points ;
- 5. Repeat steps 2-4 until the sets of knots remain unchanged for two successive

iterations. Algorithm 1: Generation of representative knot points for a given set of data.

Remark 3.1.3. Using the set of K interpolation nodes is indicated by setting m = 1, while using the representative set of k knot points is indicated by m = 2.

The modified Shepard operator, introduced by Franke and Nielson [47], requires some artificial parameters such as the number of closest nodes or a radius of influence. An alternative approach was proposed in [63], consisting of an iterative method that is free of these setup parameters and performs a reduction of the current interpolation result's residue at each iteration. The accuracy of this method is comparable to that of the modified Shepard procedure as shown in [63], although there are cases where one method is preferred to the other. For $(x, y) \in X$, the iterative Shepard operator introduced in [63] is of the following form

$$u(x,y) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{K} \left[u_j^{(k)} \omega \left((x - x_j, y - y_j) / \tau_i \right) / \sum_{p=1}^{K} \omega \left((x_p - x_j, y_p - y_j) / \tau_i \right) \right], \quad (3.1.5)$$

where $(x_i, y_i) \in X$, i = 1, ..., K, are the interpolation nodes and ω is a continuously differentiable weight function, satisfying the properties:

$$\omega(x,y) \ge 0, \ \forall (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ \omega(0,0) > 0, \ \text{and} \ \omega(x,y) = 0 \ \text{if} \ \|(x,y)\| > 1.$$

In the equation above, $u_i^{(k)}$ denotes the interpolation residuals at the kth step, with $u_i^{(0)} \equiv u_j$.

Using the ideas and method described in [63], we introduce below a new Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type.

Definition 3.1.4. The *iterative Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type* is represented as

$$u_L^m[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=0}^M \sum_{j=1}^K \left[u_{F_j}^{(i)} \omega \left((x - x_j, y - y_j) / \tau_i \right) / \sum_{p=1}^K \omega \left((x_p - x_j, y_p - y_j) / \tau_i \right) \right], \quad (3.1.6)$$

with the interpolation residuals at the *i*th step $u_{F_i}^{(i)}$ given by

$$u_{F_j}^{(0)} = F_j(x_j, y_j), \ (x_j, y_j) \in X, \ j = 1, ..., K,$$

and

$$u_{F_j}^{(i+1)} = u_{F_j}^{(i)} - \sum_{q=1}^{K} \left[u_{F_q}^{(i)} \omega \left((x_j - x_q, y_j - y_q) / \tau_i \right) / \sum_{p=1}^{K} \omega \left((x_p - x_q, y_p - y_q) / \tau_i \right) \right].$$

The weight function ω is defined as

$$\omega(x,y) = \omega(x)\omega(y),$$

with

$$\omega(x) = \begin{cases} 5(1-|x|)^4 - 4(1-|x|)^5, & |x| < 1\\ 0, & |x| \ge 1 \end{cases}.$$

The functions F_j are the least squares thin-plate splines given in (3.1.2). The parameter τ_i is chosen as in [63] and it decreases from a given value τ_0 , which can be, for example,

$$\tau_0 > \sup_{(x,y) \in X} \max_{1 \le j \le K} \| (x - x_j, y - y_j) \|$$

to

$$\tau_M < \min_{k \neq j} \| (x_k - x_j, y_k - y_j) \|$$

The sequence $\{\tau_i\}$ of scale factors is given by

$$\tau_i = \tau_0 \cdot \gamma^i, \quad \gamma \in (0, 1).$$

Applying the concept of multiscale analysis, it was demonstrated in [63] that the behavior of the interpolant remains relatively stable for $\gamma \in [0.6, 0.95]$. Smaller values of γ can also be selected to reduce the computational time, especially in the case of sparsed interpolation nodes.

3.2 The combined Shepard operator of inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric type

For a function $f: X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$, with known values only on a set of K interpolation nodes $(x_i, y_i) \in X, i = 1, ..., K$, let us consider the functions

$$\phi_i^\beta(x,y) = \sum_{j=1}^i \alpha_j \left[1 + (\epsilon d_j)^2 \right]^\beta + ax + by + c, \quad i = 1, ..., K,$$
(3.2.1)

with ϵ being a shape parameter and $d_j = \sqrt{(x - x_j)^2 + (y - y_j)^2}$.

For $\beta = -1$, we get the case of inverse quadratic RBF and for $\beta = -1/2$, the case of inverse multiquadric RBF.

The coefficients α_j , a, b, c are obtained as solutions of systems that have a similar form to the ones in (3.1.3). Shortly, they can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & X^T \\ X & O_3 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha} \\ \mathbf{u} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{f} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.2.2)$$

considering the following notations:

$$A \in \mathbb{R}^{K \times K}, \ a_{ij} = \left[1 + (\epsilon d_{ij})^2\right]^{\beta}, \ j = 1, ..., K, \ \beta \in \{-1, \ -1/2\};$$
$$X \in \mathbb{R}^{3 \times K}(\mathbb{R}), \ X = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 & ... & x_K \\ y_1 & ... & y_K \\ 1 & ... & 1 \end{pmatrix};$$
$$\mathbf{u} = (a, \ b, \ c)^T, \ \boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_K)^T, \mathbf{0} = (0, \ 0, \ 0)^T;$$
$$\mathbf{f} = (f_1, ..., f_K)^T, \ f_i = f(x_i, y_i), \ i = 1, ..., K.$$

As in the thin-plate spline case, we will consider two sets of nodes: an initial set with K interpolation nodes (m = 1) and a second set with k representative knot points, obtained using Algorithm 1 (m = 2).

Definition 3.2.1. The classical Shepard operators combined with the inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric *RBFs* are defined as

$$S^{\beta,m}_{\mu}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(x,y)\phi^{\beta}_{i}(x,y), \qquad (3.2.3)$$

where $A_{i,\mu}$, i = 1, ..., K, are defined by (1.4.2), for a given parameter $\mu > 0$ and ϕ_i^β are given in (3.2.1), for $\beta \in \{-1, -1/2\}$.

Definition 3.2.2. We define the modified Shepard operators combined with the inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric RBFs as

$$S_{W}^{\beta,m}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{K} \overline{w}_{i,\mu}(x,y) \phi_{i}^{\beta}(x,y), \qquad (3.2.4)$$

with $\overline{w}_{i \mu}$, i = 1, ..., K, given by (1.4.4) and ϕ_i^{β} defined in (3.2.1), for $\beta \in \{-1, -1/2\}$.

Definition 3.2.3. The iterative Shepard operators combined with the inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric *RBFs* are expressed as

$$u_{\phi}^{\beta,m}[f](x,y) = \sum_{i=0}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{K} \left[u_{\phi_{j}^{\beta}}^{(i)} \omega \left((x - x_{j}, y - y_{j})/\tau_{i} \right) / \sum_{p=1}^{K} \omega \left((x_{p} - x_{j}, y_{p} - y_{j})/\tau_{i} \right) \right], \quad (3.2.5)$$

with $\beta \in \{-1, -1/2\}$ and $u_{\phi_j^{\beta}}^{(i)}$ the interpolation residuals at the *i*th step given by

$$u_{\phi_j^{\beta}}^{(0)} = \phi_j^{\beta}(x_j, y_j), \ (x_j, y_j) \in X, \ j = 1, ..., K,$$

and

$$u_{\phi_{j}^{\beta}}^{(i+1)} = u_{\phi_{j}^{\beta}}^{(i)} - \sum_{q=1}^{K} \left[u_{\phi_{q}^{\beta}}^{(i)} \omega \left((x_{j} - x_{q}, y_{j} - y_{q}) / \tau_{i} \right) / \sum_{p=1}^{K} w \left((x_{p} - x_{q}, y_{p} - y_{q}) / \tau_{i} \right) \right].$$

The functions ϕ_i^{β} are given in (3.2.1). For the choice of parameters in the iterative approach, we follow the ideas from [63], as detailed in the preceding section.

3.3 Application in image reconstruction

In the subsequent part, we focus on an application of a combined-type Shepard operator, specifically in image reconstruction. This problem has been intensively studied based on radial basis functions approaches (see, e.g., [69], [80], [83], [91], [92], [95], [96]), but few results have been reported for the Shepard operator. Here, we will reconstruct damaged images, both black-and-white and color, using the combined Shepard operator of inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric type. Image reconstruction is typically required in cases involving inpainting or noise. Since our focus is on restoration rather than damage detection, we assume that the area to be reconstructed has already been identified.

3.3.1 Reconstruction of damaged black-and-white images

Consider an original, uncorrupted black-and-white image whose matrix representation is denoted by M, with each entry M(x, y) storing a pixel of the image. Let us denote the matrix representation of the corrupted image by \widehat{M} . The coordinates of a valid pixel \mathbf{f}_i are denoted by $\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i)$, i.e., $\mathbf{f}_i = \widehat{M}(x_i, y_i)$ and the coordinates of a defective pixel $\widehat{\mathbf{f}}_i$ are $\widehat{\mathbf{x}}_i = (\widehat{x}_i, \widehat{y}_i)$, i.e., $\widehat{\mathbf{f}}_i = \widehat{M}(\widehat{x}_i, \widehat{y}_i)$. In our approach, we will deliberately corrupt several pixels using the "Saltand-Pepper" noise. This consists of changing the values of a specific percentage of pixels into 0 (black = pepper) or 255 (white = salt).

• Global case

Following some ideas proposed in [69] we consider the reconstruction of a damaged blackand-white image using the bivariate Shepard operators $S^{\beta}_{\mu}[f]$ introduced in (3.2.3), specifically of inverse quadratic ($\beta = -1$) and inverse multiquadric ($\beta = -1/2$) types. For the reconstruction, we will use a global approach, where the value of a defective pixel is computed based on all the information provided by the set of correct pixels. Consider the matrix \widehat{M} associated with an image of resolution $m \times n$ that contains a percentage p% of damaged pixels. Let us denote by K the number of valid pixels and by \widehat{K} the number of defective pixels.

Let \mathcal{X} be the set of interpolation nodes, $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i), i = 1, ..., K\}$ where x_i and y_i represent the matrix coordinates of the correct pixels \mathbf{f}_i , i = 1, ..., K. We apply the Shepard operator given in (3.2.3) to reconstruct the set of the defective pixels, $\hat{\mathcal{X}} = \{\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i = (\hat{x}_i, \hat{y}_i), i = 1, ..., \hat{K}\}$. The reconstructed values of the damaged pixels are obtained as $\hat{\mathbf{f}}_i = S^{\beta}_{\mu}[\mathbf{f}](\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i), i = 1, ..., \hat{K}$. The pseudo-code for this approach is given in Algorithm 2.

Data: damaged matrix \widehat{M} Result: reconstructed matrix M' $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i), i = 1, ..., K\}$; /* correct pixels' coordinates */ $\widehat{\mathcal{X}} = \{\widehat{\mathbf{x}}_i = (\widehat{x}_i, \widehat{y}_i), i = 1, ..., \widehat{K}\}$; /* defective pixels' coordinates */ $\mathbf{f} = \{\widehat{M}(\mathbf{x}_i), \mathbf{x}_i \in \mathcal{X}, i = 1, ..., K\}$; /* correct pixels' values */ $M' = \widehat{M}$; for $i = 1 \dots \widehat{K}$ do $| M'(\widehat{\mathbf{x}}_i) = S^{\beta}_{\mu}[\mathbf{f}](\widehat{\mathbf{x}}_i)$; /* reconstruction of damaged pixels */ end



• Local case

In the global method, an incorrect pixel's value is reconstructed based on all the information provided by the correct pixels, but this approach does not always produce the best results for the reconstructed image, since the pixels of an image have strongly local properties, as emphasized in [83]. It would be more efficient to approximate the value of an incorrect pixel based on a local procedure. This approach leads to a smaller computational time compared to the global case, especially for high-resolution images because the systems (3.2.2) have a significantly reduced size. The pseudo-code is presented in Algorithm 3.

3.3.2 Reconstruction of damaged color images

Consider a multivalued function $f : X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^m$, $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_m)$ and a set of Kinterpolation nodes $\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i) \in X$, $i = 1, \ldots, K$. Somogyi and Soos introduced in [88] the Shepard-type multivalued interpolation operator as

$$\bigcup_{k=1}^{m} S_{\mu,k}[f](\mathbf{x}) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(\mathbf{x}) f_k(\mathbf{x}_i), \qquad (3.3.1)$$

for $\mathbf{x} \in X$, $\mu > 0$, $A_{i,\mu}$ given in (1.4.2).

Based on this, we can define the multivalued Shepard operator combined with inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric RBFs in the bivariate case as

$$\bigcup_{k=1}^{m} S_{\mu,k}^{\beta}[f](\mathbf{x}) = \bigcup_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{i=1}^{K} A_{i,\mu}(\mathbf{x}) \phi_{i,k}^{\beta}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (3.3.2)$$

Data: damaged matrix \widehat{M} , initial tolerance ε **Result:** reconstructed matrix M' $\widehat{\mathcal{X}} = \{ \widehat{\mathbf{x}}_i = (\widehat{x}_i, \widehat{y}_i), \ i = 1, ..., \widehat{K} \} ;$ /* defective pixels' coordinates */ $M = \widehat{M};$ while $\widehat{\mathcal{X}}$ not empty do $\widehat{K} = \operatorname{size}(\widehat{\mathcal{X}});$ for $i = 1 \dots \widehat{K}$ do Define \mathcal{X}_i = neighborhood of $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i$; $X_i = \{ \mathbf{x}_j \in \mathcal{X}_i, \ j = 1, \dots, K_i \} ;$ /* correct pixels in \mathcal{X}_i */ if $nr_wrong_pixels_neighborhood / nr_pixels_neighborhood < \varepsilon$ then $\mathbf{f}_i = \{\widehat{M}(\mathbf{x}_j), \ \mathbf{x}_j \in X_i, \ j = 1, ..., K_i\} ;$ $M(\widehat{\mathbf{x}}_i) = S^{\beta}_{\mu}[\mathbf{f}_i](\widehat{\mathbf{x}}_i) ;$ /* reconstruction of damaged pixels */ \mathbf{end} \mathbf{end} Update $\widehat{\mathcal{X}}$; $\varepsilon = \varepsilon + 0.01$; end

Algorithm 3: Local reconstruction of black-and-white images.

for $\mathbf{x} \in X$, $\mu > 0$, $A_{i,\mu}$ given in (1.4.2) and

$$\phi_{i,k}^{\beta}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{i} \alpha_{j,k} \left[1 + (\epsilon d_j)^2 \right]^{\beta} + a_k x + b_k y + c_k, \ k = 1, \dots, m.$$
(3.3.3)

The coefficients $\alpha_{j,k}, a_k, b_k, c_k$ are found solving similar systems as the one in (3.2.2).

A color image is represented as an $m \times n \times 3$ structure with each component defining the colors red, green and blue (RGB) of every pixel. Using the multivalued Shepard operator (3.3.2) with m = 3, we can reconstruct colored images using similar ideas as in the case of black-and-white images. Computational, we apply the local method described in Algorithm 3 for each of the three components: red, green and blue. Since the three component reconstructions are independent, we considered parallel computing, performed in Matlab.

Chapter 4

Spherical interpolation using some new Shepard operators

The last chapter is dedicated to spherical interpolation of scattered data using combined Shepard operators. As mentioned in Section 1.5, this interpolation problem is important as it appears in solving some problems related to physical phenomena. The new results obtained in Section 4.1 and published in the paper Cătinaş and Malina [15] are derived using two spherical radial basis functions: the least squares thin-plate spline and the inverse multiquadric.

The second Shepard method is obtained using the Bernoulli operators, suitable when information about the function's derivatives is known. After performing the Delaunay triangulation of the sphere, we consider two approaches in applying this kind of operator, detailed in Section 4.2. The original results have been published in the paper Cătinaş and Malina [16].

Two physical phenomena are investigated in Sections 4.3 and 4.4: temperature prediction on the Earth's surface and topographic data approximation. The results show that these methods represent a powerful instrument for solving various problems that model real-life phenomena.

4.1 Spherical Shepard operators combined with radial basis functions

4.1.1 Combined spherical Shepard operators of least squares thin-plate spline and inverse multiquadric type

We consider S^2 to be the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^3 centered at the origin and a set of given interpolation nodes $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i, y_i, z_i) \in S^2 : i = 1, ..., K\}$ together with the corresponding function values $f_i = f(\mathbf{x}_i), i = 1, ..., K$, of $f : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. Using the local zonal basis functions (1.5.15) and (1.5.16), built upon the thin-plate spline and the inverse multiquadric functions, we intend to improve the modified spherical Shepard operator (1.5.10), considering $\mu = 2$.

Definition 4.1.1. Let $\mathcal{X} = {\mathbf{x}_i, i = 1, ..., K} \subset S^2$ be a set of given data samples and I_j a set that contains the indices that correspond to n_Z closest neighbors of \mathbf{x}_j . We define the new *local*

Shepard interpolants of thin-plate spline type as

$$S_1(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) Z_j^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (4.1.1)$$

with the local zonal basis function given by

$$Z_j^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i \in I_j} a_i^j \psi_1(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i)),$$

and

$$S_2(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) Z_j^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (4.1.2)$$

with the augmented zonal basis function given by

$$Z_{j}^{(2)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i \in I_{j}} a_{i}^{j} \psi_{1}(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{i})) + \sum_{k=1}^{D} A_{k}^{j} y_{k}(\mathbf{x})$$

considering the thin-plate spline spherical radial basis function (see, e.g., [5])

$$\psi_1(r) = r^2 \log r, \ r = 2 \sin \frac{g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})}{2}, \ g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \arccos(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$$

In both cases, the coefficients that appear are found from

$$Z_j^{(k)}(\mathbf{x}_i) = f_i, \ i \in I_j, \ j = 1, \dots, K, \ k = 1, 2,$$
(4.1.3)

along with additional constraints for $Z_j^{(2)}$, which are imposed on the set that contains spherical harmonics of maximum order d on S^2 , $\mathcal{Y} = \{y_1, \ldots, y_D\}$. Here, \mathcal{Y} constitutes a basis for $\mathcal{H}_d(S^2)$ and $D = \dim \mathcal{H}_d(S^2) \leq n_Z$. These conditions are

$$\sum_{i \in I_j} a_i^j y_k(\mathbf{x}_i) = 0, \ k = 1, \dots, D, \ j = 1, \dots, K.$$
(4.1.4)

Definition 4.1.2. Consider $\mathcal{X} = {\mathbf{x}_i, i = 1, ..., K} \subset S^2$ a set of interpolation nodes lying on S^2 and I_j a set that consists of the indices of n_Z neighbors for the node \mathbf{x}_j . We define the new local Shepard interpolants of inverse multiquadric type as

$$S_3(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) Z_j^{(3)}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (4.1.5)$$

with the local zonal basis function given by

$$Z_j^{(3)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i \in I_j} a_i^j \psi_2(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i)),$$

and

$$S_4(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=1}^{K} \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) Z_j^{(4)}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (4.1.6)$$

with the augmented local zonal basis function given by

$$Z_{j}^{(4)}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i \in I_{j}} a_{i}^{j} \psi_{2}(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{i})) + \sum_{k=1}^{D} A_{k}^{j} y_{k}(\mathbf{x}), \qquad (4.1.7)$$

considering the inverse multiquadric spherical radial basis function (see, e.g., [5])

$$\psi_2(r) = (r^2 + c^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \ r = 2\sin\frac{g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})}{2}, \ g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = \arccos(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$

As in the previous case, the coefficients of $Z_j^{(3)}$ and $Z_j^{(4)}$ are obtained from the interpolation conditions (4.1.3), together with the additional constraints (4.1.4) for $Z_j^{(4)}$.

Theorem 4.1.3. Consider a set of distinct nodes $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i, i = 1, ..., K\}$, lying on S^2 and the corresponding function values $f_i, i = 1, ..., K$, with $f : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. For each $\mathbf{x} \in S^2$, we obtain the following approximation of the error of the Shepard operators $S_i, i = 1, ..., 4$, given by (4.1.1), (4.1.2), (4.1.5) and (4.1.6):

$$E_i(x) = |f(\mathbf{x}) - S_i(\mathbf{x})| \le \sum_{j=1}^K \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x})e_j(\mathbf{x}), \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4,$$

with $e_j(\mathbf{x}) = \left| f(\mathbf{x}) - Z_j^{(i)}(\mathbf{x}) \right|$ being the interpolation error of the local basis functions $Z_j^{(i)}$, i = 1, ..., 4, on the set of nodes \mathbf{x}_k , $k \in I_j$, I_j containing the indices of n_Z closest neighbours of \mathbf{x}_j , j = 1, ..., K. In addition, we have

$$E_i(\mathbf{x}) \le \max_{j=1,...,K} e_j(\mathbf{x}), \text{ for } i = 1,...,4, \text{ and } \mathbf{x} \in S^2.$$

Theorem 4.1.4. Consider a set of distinct nodes $\mathcal{X} = \{\mathbf{x}_i, i = 1, ..., K\}$, lying on S^2 and the corresponding function values $f_i, i = 1, ..., K$, with $f : S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. For the Shepard operators S_1, S_3 given in (4.1.1) and (4.1.5), respectively, we have $S_i(\mathbf{x}) \in C^1(S^2)$, i = 1, 3.

Theorem 4.1.5. For $\mathcal{X} = {\mathbf{x}_i, i = 1, ..., K}$ a set of distinct nodes in S^2 and $f \in C(S^2)$, the following estimation holds

$$|S_i(\mathbf{x}) - f(\mathbf{x})| \le \sum_{j=1}^K \overline{w}_j(\mathbf{x}) |Z_j^{(i)}(\mathbf{x}) - Z_j^{(i)}(\mathbf{x}_j)| + \omega(f, h_{\mathcal{X}}), \text{ for } i = 1, ..., 4,$$

where $\omega(f, h_{\mathcal{X}}) = \sup_{\substack{d(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) \le h_{\mathcal{X}} \\ norm, i.e., h_{\mathcal{X}} = \sup_{\mathbf{x} \in S^2} g(\mathbf{x}, \mathcal{X}).} |f(\mathbf{x}) - f(\mathbf{y})|$ is the modulus of continuity of f and $h_{\mathcal{X}}$ is the mesh

4.2 Spherical Shepard-Bernoulli operators

4.2.1 Delaunay triangulation of a sphere

The problem of data interpolation on the sphere, with the aid of triangulation methods, has been addressed and solved, for example, in [68], [75].

Definition 4.2.1. [73] A triangulation T of \mathcal{X} is a set of triangles that have the following properties:

- 1. The vertices of the triangles in T are formed by the nodes in \mathcal{X} ;
- 2. The only nodes contained in a triangle are the ones that form its vertices;

- 3. The interiors of the triangles are pairwise disjoint;
- 4. The union of all triangles covers the convex hull of \mathcal{X} .

Remark 4.2.2. The vertices $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_3$ of a triangle are specified in counterclockwise order (i.e, the determinant that has as rows/columns $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_3$, in this order, is non-negative).

Definition 4.2.3. [73] We say that a triangulation T has the *empty circumcircle interior property* if the circumcircle corresponding to each triangle of T does not contain any nodes in its interior. This kind of triangulation is called *Delaunay triangulation*.

4.2.2 Combined spherical Shepard-Bernoulli method

To obtain the new combined Shepard operators of Bernoulli type, we will use the spherical coordinates (ϕ, θ) corresponding to $\mathbf{x} \in S^2$, given in cartesian coordinates (x, y, z).

Similarly to the planar case (1.4.14), one can obtain the directional derivatives of a function f with respect to ϕ and θ (see, e.g., [68]), so, $B_m^{T(i)}[\tilde{f}](\phi, \theta)$ can be written similarly to (1.4.27), considering $\tilde{f}(\phi, \theta) = f(x, y, z)$.

Moreover, in this case, the barycentric coordinates λ_1 , λ_2 , λ_3 given in (1.4.13) are computed based on the signed area \mathcal{A} of a spherical triangle of vertices $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{z} \in S^2$, that is

$$\tan\left(\frac{\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{x}_1,\mathbf{x}_2,\mathbf{x}_3)}{2}\right) = \frac{\mathbf{x}_1 \cdot (\mathbf{x}_2 \times \mathbf{x}_3)}{1 + \mathbf{x}_1 \cdot \mathbf{x}_2 + \mathbf{x}_2 \cdot \mathbf{x}_3 + \mathbf{x}_1 \cdot \mathbf{x}_3}$$

with "." denoting the Euclidean inner product and " \times " the vector cross product.

Remark 4.2.4. The barycentric coordinates λ_1 , λ_2 , λ_3 satisfy the relation $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3 = 1$.

Definition 4.2.5. Let T be the Delaunay triangulation of a set \mathcal{X} containing K data samples $\mathbf{x}_i \in S^2$, $i = 1, \ldots, K$, and \mathcal{T}_i the set of all triangles that have a vertex in \mathbf{x}_i , for each $i = 1, \ldots, K$. Choosing the representative triangle $T(i) \subset \mathcal{T}_i$, on which the operator $B_m^{T(i)}[\tilde{f}]$ is constructed, such that the approximation error is minimum, we define the *spherical Shepard-Bernoulli operator* as

$$S_{B_m}^1[f](\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^K A_{i,\mu}(\mathbf{x}) B_m^{T(i)}[\tilde{f}](\phi,\theta), \quad \mathbf{x} \in S^2,$$
(4.2.1)

with $B_m^{T(i)}[\tilde{f}](\phi,\theta)$ given in (1.4.27), $\tilde{f}(\phi,\theta) = f(x,y,z)$ and $A_{i,\mu}$ given in barycentric form as

$$A_{i,\mu}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_i))^{-\mu}}{\sum\limits_{k=1}^{K} (g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_k))^{-\mu}},$$
(4.2.2)

for $\mu \in \mathbb{R}_+$ a control parameter and g the geodesic distance (1.5.1).

Theorem 4.2.6. Consider a set of distinct nodes \mathbf{x}_i , i = 1, ..., K, lying on the unit sphere S^2 and $f: S^2 \to \mathbb{R}$. For each $\mathbf{x} \in S^2$, we have the following estimation of the error of the Shepard operator $S^1_{B_m}$ given by (4.2.1)

$$E(\mathbf{x}) = \left| f(\mathbf{x}) - S_{B_m}^1[f](\mathbf{x}) \right| \le \sum_{i=1}^K A_{i,\mu}(\mathbf{x}) e_i(\mathbf{x}),$$

with $e_i(\mathbf{x}) = \left| f(\mathbf{x}) - B_m^{T(i)}[f](\phi, \theta) \right|, \quad i = 1, ..., K.$ In addition, we have $E(\mathbf{x}) \leq \max_{i=1,...,K} e_i(\mathbf{x}), \text{ for all } \mathbf{x} \in S^2.$

In the sequel, we consider another approach, proposed in [97] and [98], that consists of constructing a Bernoulli operator on each triangle from the triangulation T of S^2 . Here, we use the Delaunay triangulation. Let N be the number of triangles that form the triangulation. In this part, \mathcal{T}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, N$, will denote a triangle from the triangulation, with vertices $\mathbf{x}_{i_1}, \mathbf{x}_{i_2}, \mathbf{x}_{i_3}$, such that each node \mathbf{x}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, K$, is a vertex of at least one triangle, i.e.,

$$\bigcup_{i} \{i_1, i_2, i_3\} = \{1, \dots, K\}.$$

Each basis function $\Phi_{i,\mu}$ corresponding to \mathcal{T}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, N$, will have the form [97]

$$\Phi_{i,\mu}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{3} \left(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{i_j}) \right)^{-\mu}}{\sum_{k=1}^{N} \prod_{j=1}^{3} \left(g(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{k_j}) \right)^{-\mu}}, \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$
(4.2.3)

for $\mu \in \mathbb{R}_+$ a control parameter.

Definition 4.2.7. Let T be a Delaunay triangulation of the unit sphere S^2 and \mathcal{T}_i , i = 1, ..., N, a triangle of T, such that each point from a set of K distinct nodes $\mathbf{x}_i \in S^2$, i = 1, ..., K, is the vertex of at least one triangle from T. Using the basis functions $\Phi_{i,\mu}$, i = 1, ..., N, given by (4.2.3), we define the modified spherical Shepard-Bernoulli operator as

$$S_{B_m}^2[f](\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^N \Phi_{i,\mu}(\mathbf{x}) B_m^{\mathcal{T}_i}[\tilde{f}](\phi,\theta), \text{ for all } \mathbf{x} \in S^2,$$
(4.2.4)

with $B_m^{\mathcal{T}_i}[\tilde{f}](\phi,\theta)$ given in (1.4.27) and $\tilde{f}(\phi,\theta) = f(x,y,z)$.

Theorem 4.2.8. Considering \mathbf{x}_j , j = 1, ..., K, the vertices of at least one triangle \mathcal{T}_i , i = 1, ..., N, we have the following interpolation properties of $S^2_{B_m}[f]$,

$$S_{B_m}^2[f](\mathbf{x}_j) = f(\mathbf{x}_j), \quad j = 1, ..., K.$$
(4.2.5)

4.3 Application in monthly mean temperature predictions

We consider an example of approximation with the operators introduced in the previous two sections, using some real data, namely the monthly mean temperatures on the Globe in January 2010 and June 2010. The set of data was selected from https://www.kaggle.com/datasets/shishu1421/global-temperature?select=air_temp.2010. For our numerical tests, we considered 1073 nodes and we reconstructed the temperature values for 21449. For the Shepard operator combined with the two spherical RBFs, we considered the case of zonal basis functions combined with a spherical harmonic, S_2 and S_4 , as given in (4.1.2) and (4.1.6). In the case of the Shepard-Bernoulli operator, we considered its second variant, as in (4.2.4), using the Bernoulli operator of order 1, i.e., $S_{B_1}^2$. The values from January are displayed in Figure 4.1 and the values from June in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.1: Temperatures in January 2010.



Figure 4.2: Temperatures in June 2010.

4.4 Application to topographic data problem

To illustrate other practical benefits of these operators, we use topographic data from the National Geophysical Data Center, NOAA US Department of Commerce, available in Matlab using the command load topo. For the reconstruction of 21600 data values using the operators S_2 , S_4 and $S_{B_1}^2$, given in (4.1.2), (4.1.6) and (4.2.4), respectively, we have used 1063 nodes. The graphical results are displayed in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3: Topographic data values.

Conclusions

The main objective of this thesis was to introduce and study new Shepard operators in the univariate, bivariate and spherical cases. Given the importance of the scattered data interpolation problem nowadays, it is understood that finding new ways to improve this kind of interpolant is needed due to its numerous practical applications.

The primary goal was to introduce a new type of Shepard operator in the univariate case, obtained using polynomials constructed based on the weighted least squares method. We detailed the construction of these kinds of polynomials and investigated some of their properties, including the interpolation properties, the degree of exactness and linearity. Subsequently, with the aid of these polynomial functions, we derived some new Shepard interpolants and proved that they inherit the properties mentioned before. Additionally, we investigated the remainders of the interpolation formulas, using Peano's Theorem.

The second research direction concerned the bivariate case. Using three radial basis functions (thin-plate spline, inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric), we developed new methods of approximation, using the classical, modified and iterative forms of the Shepard operator. The first one is a global method, as proposed in its original form [82], in 1968. The second one [47] is a local approach that ensures only the closest neighbors of a point have a significant influence on the approximation data. The latter one [63] is free of the setup parameters necessary in the first two approaches and performs a reduction of the current interpolation result's residue at each iteration. We demonstrated that these operators can be successfully used in image reconstruction of damaged black-and-white and color images.

The last part of this thesis focused on the spherical interpolation of scattered data. We introduced two types of Shepard operators. The first one was constructed using a local method and two spherical radial basis functions: the thin-plate spline and the inverse multiquadric. Additionally, we used another approach, based on the addition of a polynomial component, specifically spherical harmonics, motivated by the fact that approximations of this kind offer real advantages. We studied the interpolation error, proved that our operators are of class C^1 and provided an error bound based on the modulus of continuity. For the second type of Shepard interpolant, we considered its combination with the Bernoulli operator, suitable when information about the function's partial derivatives are available. The new operators were obtained after we performed the Delaunay triangulation of the sphere, using two types of basis functions. We investigated the interpolation error and the interpolatory properties. Finally, we presented two real-life applications of the operators introduced in the last chapter, namely temperature prediction on the Earth's surface and topographic data approximation.

The accuracy of our methods has been investigated throughout all three chapters using several test functions and datasets.

As future research directions following this thesis, we mention, for example, further improvements of the spherical Shepard operator, which is a recent topic in the literature. Combinations with operators such as Lagrange or Lidstone could be performed. Moreover, optimization of the algorithm implementation is needed, as real-data problems involve large numbers of datasets, requiring speed, efficiency and parallelization of algorithms in all three cases. Given the current demand for research in artificial intelligence and machine learning, we also intend to explore potential applications of Shepard-type operators in these fields. Recently, novel techniques based on the Shepard interpolation have been developed for neural networks. They have been successfully tested in solving different tasks like time series classification, image classification, image recognition or inpainting, emphasizing the potential of this kind of operator in such applications.

Bibliography

- R. Agarwal and P. J. Y. Wong. Error Inequalities in Polynomial Interpolation and their Applications. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1993.
- [2] G. Allasia, R. Cavoretto, and A. De Rossi. "Hermite-Birkhoff interpolation on scattered data on the sphere and other manifolds". In: Appl. Math. Comput. 318 (2018), pp. 35–50.
- [3] K. Atkinson and W. Han. Spherical Harmonics and Approximations on the Unit Sphere: An Introduction. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012.
- [4] R. E. Barnhill, R. P. Dube, and F. F. Little. "Properties of Shepard's surfaces". In: Rocky Mountain J. Math. 13 (1983), pp. 365–382.
- [5] B.J.C. Baxter and S. Hubbert. "Radial basis functions for the sphere". In: *Recent Progress in Multivariate Approximation*. Ed. by W. Haussmann, K. Jetter, and M. Reimer. Vol. 137. Basel: Birkhäuser Basel, 2001, pp. 33–47.
- [6] M.D. Buhmann. "New Developments in the Theory of Radial Basis Function Interpolation". In: *Multivariate Approximation: From CAGD to Wavelets*. World Scientific Publishing, Singapore, 1993, pp. 35–75.
- M.D. Buhmann. Radial Basis Functions: Theory and Implementations, Cambridge Monographs on Applied and Computational Mathematics. Vol. 12. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [8] R. Caira and F. Dell'Accio. "Shepard-Bernoulli operators". In: Math. Comp. 76 (2007), pp. 299–321.
- R. Caira, F. Dell'Accio, and F. Di Tommaso. "On the bivariate Shepard-Lidstone operators". In: J. Comput. Appl. Math. 236 (2012), pp. 1691–1707.
- [10] T. Cătinaş. "Bivariate interpolation by combined Shepard operators". In: Proceedings of 17th IMACS World Congress, Scientific Computation, Applied Mathematics and Simulation. Ed. by P. Borne et al. Paris, 2005, 7 pp.
- T. Cătinaş. "The bivariate Shepard operator of Bernoulli type". In: Calcolo 44.4 (2007), pp. 189–202.
- [12] T. Cătinaş. "The combined Shepard-Abel-Goncharov univariate operator". In: Rev. Anal. Numér. Théor. Approx. 32 (2003), pp. 11–20.

- [13] T. Cătinaş. "The combined Shepard-Lidstone bivariate operator". In: Trends and Applications in Constructive Approximation. Ed. by D.H. Mache, J. Szabados, and M.G. de Bruin. Vol. 151. Basel: Birkhäuser Basel, 2005, pp. 77–89.
- T. Cătinaş and A. Malina. "Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type". In: Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 66 (2021), pp. 257-265. DOI: 10.24193/subbmath.2021.
 2.02.
- T. Cătinaş and A. Malina. "Spherical interpolation of scattered data using least squares thin-plate spline and inverse multiquadric functions". In: *Numer. Algor.* 97 (2024), pp. 1397–1414. DOI: 10.1007/s11075-024-01755-6.
- [16] T. Cătinaş and A. Malina. "Spherical Shepard-Bernoulli operator". In: J. Appl. Math. Comput. (2024). DOI: 10.1007/s12190-024-02285-z.
- T. Cătinaş and A. Malina. "The combined Shepard operator of inverse quadratic and inverse multiquadric type". In: Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 67 (2022), pp. 579–589.
 DOI: 10.24193/subbmath.2022.3.09.
- [18] R. Cavoretto and A. De Rossi. "Achieving accuracy and efficiency in spherical modelling of real data". In: Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 37 (2014), pp. 1449–1459.
- [19] R. Cavoretto and A. De Rossi. "Fast and accurate interpolation of large scattered data sets on the sphere". In: J. Comput. Appl. Math. 234 (2010), pp. 1505–1521.
- [20] R. Cavoretto and A. De Rossi. "Numerical comparison of different weights in Shepard's interpolants on the sphere". In: Appl. Math. Sci. 4 (2010), pp. 3425–3435.
- [21] R. Cavoretto and A. De Rossi. "Spherical interpolation using the partition of unity method: An efficient and flexible algorithm". In: *Appl. Math. Lett.* 25 (2012), pp. 1251–1256.
- [22] R. Cavoretto et al. "An efficient trivariate algorithm for tetrahedral Shepard interpolation". In: J. Sci. Comput. 57 (2020).
- [23] R. Cavoretto et al. "Fast computation of triangular Shepard interpolants". In: J. Comput. Appl. Math. 354 (2019), pp. 457–470.
- [24] Gh. Coman. "Hermite-type Shepard operators". In: Rev. Anal. Numér. Théor. Approx. 26 (1997), pp. 33–38.
- [25] Gh. Coman. "Shepard operators of Birkhoff type". In: Calcolo 35 (1998), pp. 197–203.
- [26] Gh. Coman. "The remainder of certain Shepard type interpolation formulas". In: Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 32.4 (1987), pp. 24–32.
- [27] Gh. Coman, I. Chiorean, and T. Cătinaş. Numerical Analysis. An Advanced Course. Ed. Presa Univ. Clujeană, 2007.
- [28] Gh. Coman and L. Ţâmbulea. "A Shepard Taylor approximation formula". In: Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 33 (1988), pp. 65–73.
- [29] Gh. Coman and R. Trîmbiţaş. "Combined Shepard univariate operators". In: East J. Approx. 7 (2001), pp. 471–483.

- [30] Gh. Coman and R. Trîmbiţaş. "Shepard operator of Lagrange type". In: Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 42.1 (1997), pp. 75–83.
- [31] Gh. Coman and R. Trîmbiţaş. "Univariate Shepard-Birkhoff interpolation". In: J. Numer. Anal. Approx. Theory 30 (2001), pp. 15–24.
- [32] F. A. Costabile and F. Dell'Accio. "Expansion over a rectangle of real functions in Bernoulli polynomials and applications". In: *BIT* 41 (2001), pp. 451–464.
- [33] F. A. Costabile and F. Dell'Accio. "Expansion over a simplex of real functions by means of Bernoulli polynomials". In: *Numer. Algorithms* 28 (2001), pp. 63–86.
- [34] F.A. Costabile and F. Dell'Accio. "Lidstone approximation on the triangle". In: Appl. Numer. Math. 52 (2005), pp. 339–361.
- [35] A. De Rossi. "Hybrid spherical approximation". In: (2014). arXiv: 1404.1475.
- [36] A. De Rossi. "Spherical interpolation of large scattered data sets using zonal basis functions". In: *Mathematical Methods for Curves and Surfaces*. Ed. by M. Daehlen, K. Morken, and L. Schumaker. Trømso: Nashboro Press, 2005, pp. 125–134.
- [37] F. Dell'Accio and F. Di Tommaso. "Bivariate Shepard-Bernoulli operators". In: Math. Comput. Simulation 141 (2017), pp. 65–82.
- [38] F. Dell'Accio and F. Di Tommaso. "Complete Hermite–Birkhoff interpolation on scattered data by combined Shepard operators". In: J. Comput. Appl. Math. 300 (2016), pp. 192– 206.
- [39] F. Dell'Accio and F. Di Tommaso. "Scattered data interpolation by Shepard's like methods: classical results and recent advances". In: *Dolomites Res. Notes Approx.* 9 (2016), pp. 32–44.
- [40] F. Dell'Accio et al. "Increasing the approximation order of the triangular Shepard method". In: Appl. Numer. Math. 126 (2018), pp. 78–91.
- [41] F. Dell'Accio, F. Di Tommaso, and K. Hormann. "On the approximation order of triangular Shepard interpolation". In: IMA J. Numer. Anal. 36 (2016), pp. 359–379.
- [42] K. Dzhaparidze and R. H. P. Janssen. "A stochastic approach to an interpolation problem with applications to Hellinger integrals and arithmetic-geometric mean relationship". In: *CWI Report, Amsterdam* 3 (1994).
- [43] R. Farwig. "Rate of convergence of Shepard's global interpolation formula". In: Math. Comp. 46 (1986), pp. 1577–590.
- [44] G.E. Fasshauer. Meshfree Approximation Methods with MATLAB, Interdisciplinary Mathematical Sciences. World Scientific Publishing Co Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, 2007.
- [45] G.E. Fasshauer and Zhang J.G. "On choosing "optimal" shape parameters for RBF approximation". In: Numer. Algor. 45 (2007), pp. 345–368.
- [46] R. Franke. "Scattered data interpolation: tests of some methods". In: Math. Comp. 385 (1982), pp. 181–200.

- [47] R. Franke and G. Nielson. "Smooth interpolation of large sets of scattered data". In: Int. J. Numer. Meths. Engrg. 15 (1980), pp. 1691–1704.
- [48] K. Guo and S. Hu nd X. Sun. "Conditionally positive definite functions and Laplace-Stieltjes integrals". In: J. Approx. Theory 74 (1993), pp. 249–265.
- [49] R. Harder and R. Desmarais. "Interpolation using surface splines". In: J. Aircr. 9 (1972), pp. 189–191.
- [50] R. Hardy. "Geodetic applications of multiquadric analysis". In: AVN Allg. Vermess. Nachr. 79 (1972), pp. 389–406.
- [51] R. Hardy. "Multiquadric equations of topography and other irregular surfaces". In: J. Geophys. Res. 76 (1971), pp. 1905–1915.
- [52] R. Hardy. "Research results in the application of multiquadric equations to surveying and mapping problems". In: Survg. Mapp. 35 (1975), pp. 321–332.
- [53] K. Hesse, I. Sloan, and R. Womersley. "Radial basis function approximation of noisy scattered data on the sphere". In: *Numer. Math.* 137 (2017), pp. 1–27.
- [54] S. Hubbert, Q.T. Le Gia, and T. Morton. Spherical Radial Basis Functions. Theory and Applications. Springer, 2015.
- [55] R. Jordan. Calculus of Finite Differences. Chelsea Publishing Co., New York, 1960.
- [56] P. Lancaster and K. Salkauskas. "Surfaces generated by moving least squares methods". In: Math. Comp. 37 (1981), pp. 141–158.
- [57] D. Lazzaro and L.B. Montefusco. "Radial basis functions for multivariate interpolation of large scattered data sets". In: J. Comput. Appl. Math. 140 (2002), pp. 521–536.
- [58] Q.T. Le Gia, I. H. Sloan, and H. Wendland. "Multiscale analysis in Sobolev spaces on the sphere". In: SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 48.6 (2010), pp. 2065–2090.
- [59] F. Little. "Convex combination surfaces". In: Surfaces in Computer Aided Geometric Design (Barnhill, R.E., Boehm, W. (eds)). Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1983, pp. 99–107.
- [60] A. Malina. "An application of the Shepard operator in image reconstruction". In: 2024 26th International Symposium on Symbolic and Numeric Algorithms for Scientific Computing (SYNASC). To appear. 2024.
- [61] A. Malina. "Iterative Shepard operator of least squares thin-plate spline type". In: Dolomites Res. Notes Approx. 16 (2023), pp. 54–59. DOI: 10.14658/PUPJ-DRNA-2023-3-8.
- [62] A. Malina. "Univariate Shepard operators combined with least squares fitting polynomials". In: *Filomat* 38.15 (2024), pp. 5507–5516. DOI: 10.2298/FIL2415507M.
- [63] A.V. Masjukov and V.V. Masjukov. "Multiscale modification of Shepard's method for interpolation of multivariate scattered data". In: *Mathematical Modelling and Analysis*, *Proceeding of the 10th International Conference MMA2005 & CMAM2*. 2005, pp. 467– 472.

- [64] J. R. McMahon. "Knot selection for least squares approximation using thin plate splines". In: M.S. Thesis. Naval Postgraduate School, 1986.
- [65] J. R. McMahon and R. Franke. "Knot selection for least squares thin plate splines". In: *Technical Report.* Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, 1987.
- [66] C.A. Micchelli. "Interpolation of scattered data: Distance matrices and conditionally positive definite functions". In: Constr. Approx 2 (1986), pp. 11–22.
- [67] C. Müller. Spherical Harmonics. Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Vol. 17. Springer, Berlin, 1966.
- [68] G. Nielson and R. Ramaraj. "Interpolation over a sphere based upon a minimum norm network". In: Comput. Aided Geom. Design 4 (1987), pp. 41–57.
- [69] P. Paewpolsong et al. "Image reconstruction by shapefree radial basis function neural networks (RBFNs)". In: *Journal of Physics: Conference Series* 2312.1 (2022).
- [70] W. Phillip. "SINN: Shepard Interpolation Neural Networks". In: Advances in Visual Computing. Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp. 349–358.
- [71] S.J. Ren et al. "Shepard Convolutional Neural Networks". In: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems. Vol. 28. Curran Associates, Inc., 2015.
- [72] R.J. Renka. "Algorithm 660: QSHEP2D: Quadratic method for bivariate interpolation of scattered data". In: ACM Trans. Math. Software 14 (1988), pp. 149–150.
- [73] R.J. Renka. "Algorithm 772: STRIPACK, Delaunay Triangulation and Voronoi Diagram on the Surface of a Sphere". In: ACM Trans. Math. Software 23 (1997), pp. 416–434.
- [74] R.J. Renka. "Algorithm 790: CSHEP2D: Cubic method for bivariate interpolation of scattered data". In: ACM Trans. Math. Software 25 (1999), pp. 70–73.
- [75] R.J. Renka. "Interpolation of data on the surface of a sphere". In: ACM Trans. Math. Software 10 (1984), pp. 417–436.
- [76] R.J. Renka. "Multivariate interpolation of large sets of scattered data". In: ACM Trans. Math. Software 14 (1988), pp. 139–148.
- [77] R.J. Renka and A.K. Cline. "A triangle-based C¹ interpolation method". In: Rocky Mountain J. Math. 14 (1984), pp. 223–237.
- [78] E.B. Saff and A.B.J. Kuijlaars. "Distributing many points on a sphere". In: Math. Intelligencer 19 (1997), pp. 5–11.
- [79] A. Sard. Linear approximation. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1963.
- [80] V. Savchenko, N. Kojekine, and H. Unno. "A practical image retouching method". In: CW '02: Proceedings of the First International Symposium on Cyber Worlds. 2002, pp. 480– 487.
- [81] I.J. Schoenberg. "Metric spaces and completely monotone functions". In: Ann. of Math. 39 (1938), pp. 811–841.

- [82] D. Shepard. "A two dimensional interpolation function for irregularly spaced data". In: Proceedings of the 1968 23rd ACM national conference. ACM, 1968, pp. 517–523.
- [83] V. Skala. "Fast Reconstruction of Corrupted Images and Videos by Radial Basis Functions". In: ICCAIS 2013 Conf. 2013, pp. 267–271.
- [84] I.H. Sloan and A. Sommariva. "Approximation on the sphere using radial basis functions plus polynomials". In: Adv. Comput. Math. 29 (2008), pp. 147–177.
- [85] K. Smith and P. Williams. "Time Series Classification with Shallow Learning Shepard Interpolation Neural Networks". In: *Image and Signal Processing*. Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 329–338.
- [86] K. Smith et al. "Deep Convolutional-Shepard Interpolation Neural Networks for Image Classification Tasks". In: *Image Analysis and Recognition*. Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 185–192.
- [87] K. Smith et al. "Shepard Interpolation Neural Networks with K-Means: A Shallow Learning Method for Time Series Classification". In: 2018 International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN). 2018, pp. 1–6.
- [88] I. Somogyi and A. Soos. "Interpolation methods for multivalued functions". In: Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math. 61 (2016), pp. 377–382.
- [89] W. Thacker et al. "Algorithm 905: SHEPPACK: Modified Shepard algorithm for interpolation of scattered multivariate data". In: ACM Trans. Math. Software. 37 (2010), pp. 1– 20.
- [90] R. Trîmbiţaş. "Univariate Shepard-Lagrange interpolation". In: Kragujevac J. Math. 24 (2002), pp. 85–94.
- [91] K. Uhlir and V. Skala. "Reconstruction of damaged images using Radial Basis Functions". In: 2005 13th European Signal Processing Conference. 2005, pp. 1–4.
- [92] P. Wen, X. Wu, and C. Wu. "An interactive image inpainting method based on RBF networks". In: Advances in Neural Networks 3972 (2006), pp. 629–637.
- [93] H. Wendland. Scattered Data Approximation, Cambridge Monographs on Applied and Computational Mathematics. Vol. 17. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.
- [94] T.T. Wong, W.S. Luk, and P.A. Heng. "Sampling with Hammersley and Halton Points". In: J. Graph. Tools 2.2 (1997), pp. 9–24.
- [95] J. Zapletal, P. Vanecek, and V. Skala. "Influence of essential parameters on the RBF based image reconstruction". In: *Proceedings of SCCG 2008*. 2008, pp. 178–185.
- [96] J. Zapletal, P. Vanecek, and V. Skala. "RBF-based image restoration utilising auxiliary points". In: Computer Graphics International Conference, ACM. 2009, pp. 39–44.
- [97] B. Zerroudi, H. Tayeq, and A. El Harrak. "Effective interpolation of scattered data on a sphere through a Shepard-like method". In: *Math. Model. Comput.* 10 (2023), pp. 1174– 1186.

- [98] B. Zerroudi, H. Tayeq, and A. El Harrak. "Scattered data interpolation on the 2dimensional surface through Shepard-like technique". In: Math. Model. Comput. 11 (2024), pp. 277–289.
- [99] C. Zuppa. "Error estimates for moving least square approximations". In: Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S) 34.2 (2003), pp. 231–249.